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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY 

KENTON CIRCUIT COURT 
DIVISION I 

CASE NO. 18-CI-1603 

MARC TISCHBEIN and PEGGY RANKIN 

vs. 

SCOTT IDLL, LORRIE IDLL and 

FILED 
KENTON CIRCUIT/DISTRICT COURT 

MAR O 2 2022 
JOHN c. MIDDLETON 

BY D.C 

PLAINTIFFS 

GENERAL ELECTRIC CREDIT UNION DEFENDANTS 

SCOTT HILL and LORRIE HILL DEFENDANTS/THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS 

vs. 

DAVID A. KLINGSHIRN INDIVIDUALLY and 
DAVID A. KLINGSHIRN AS TRUSTEE OF THE 
DAVID A. KLINGSHIRN TRUST 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 

TIDRD-PARTY DEFENDANTS 

Notice is given that Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill, Defendants and former Third-Party 

Plaintiffs in this proceeding, hereby appeal to the Kentucky Comt of Appeals from the 

following: (A) the final judgment of the Kenton Circuit Court entered on February 1, 2022 and 

styled "Order Granting Summary Judgment" (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A) 

including but not limited to the Kenton Circuit Court determinations in that Order (i) sustaining 

Motion of Plaintiffs, Marc Tischbein and Peggy Rankin, for Summary Judgment on their adverse 

possession claim regarding the Main House garage and prescriptive easement claim regarding 

the entry gate and driveway, (ii) overruling Defendants', Hills, Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' 

Claim for Want of Prosecution Pursuant to CR 77.02, (iii) overruling Defendants', Hills, Motion 

Requesting that the Court Rule on All Pending Motions as moot, (iv) overruling Defendants' , 

Hills, Motion to Require Plaintiffs to Post Bond as moot, and (v) sustaining Plaintiffs' Motion to 

Dismiss Defendants' Second Amended Counterclaim and dismissing those claim in light of the 



granting of Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment on their claims for adverse possession and 

prescriptive easement; (B) the Order of the Kenton Circuit Court, entered on April 6, 2020 and 

styled "Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment" (a copy of which is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B) overruling Motion of Defendants, Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill, for summary judgment;, 

sustaining Motion of Plaintiffs, Marc Tischbein and Peggy Rankin to gain "immediate 

possession of the Main House garage in the same condition as it was when they relinquished 

possession, as well as unobstructed access to it through the gate and driveway in the same 

manner," and ordering that Partial Summary Judgment be granted; (C) any order of the Kenton 

Circuit Court entered on April 8, 2020 (such an order having been referenced by the Kentucky 

Court of Appeals in its Order Denying Motion for Emergency Relief entered May 28, 2020 in 

Kentucky Court of Appeals Case No. 2020-CA-000692-I although no such order appears on the 

Kenton Circuit Court docket); (D) the Order of the Kenton Circuit Court, entered on May 18, 

2020 ( a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C), overruling the Hills' Motion to Vacate 

( and ordering that the "Hills shall relinquish possession of the Main house garage and provide 

unobstructed access to it through the gate and driveway in the same manner as immediately prior 

to their possession, within ten (10) days of entry of this order. If the mailbox, in any way 

obstructs use of the area previously used by [Marc] Tischbein and [Peggy] Rankin for additional 

parking, that too shall be moved."); and (E) the failure of the Kenton Circuit Court to rule on and 

the failure of the Kenton Circuit Court to grant the Hills' Motion to Compel Plaintiff Marc 

Tischbein, entered on February 26, 2020 (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit D). 

The names of the appellants are Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill. 

The names of the appellees against whom this appeal is taken are Defendant Marc 

Tischbein, Defendant Peggy Rankin, and Defendant General Electric Credit Union. Third Party 
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Defendants David A. Klingshirn Individually and David A. Klingshirn as Trustee of the David 

A. Klingshirn Trust are also named as appellees against whom this appeal is taken out of an 

abundance of caution, in light of the fact that the Kenton Circuit Court's February 1, 2022 Order 

caused a copy of its February 1, 2022 Order to be served upon counsel for Mr. Klingshirn even 

though all claims of Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill against Mr. Klingshirn and all claims of Mr. 

Klingshirn against Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill had previously been dismissed without prejudice 

pursuant to Kenton Circuit Court Order signed November 1, 2021 and entered November 10, 

2021. 

The Kenton Circuit Court Judge is the Honorable Kathleen S. Lape. 
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Res ectfully sub~ 

e an en (40013) 
~ n . hy ( 50646) 

Murp Lan en Jones PLLC 
2400 Chamber Center Dr., Ste. 200 
Fort Mitchell, KY 4101 7 
T: (859) 360-1123 
F: (859) 578-3061 
JLanden@MLJfirm.com 
KMurphy@MLJfirm.com 
Counsel for Appellants 
Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was served on all 
opposing counsel at their last known addresses via first class U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, and via 
e-mail at the following addresses, all this 2nd day of March, 2022: 

Kent W. Seifried, Esq. 
POSTON, SEIFRIED & SCHLOEMER 
2039 Dixie Highway 
Fort Mitchell, Kentucky 41011 
kent@pss-law.net 
Counsel for Plaintiffs Marc Tischbein 
& Peggy Rankin 

Thomas A. Wietholter, Esq. 
Wood & Lamping LLP 
600 Vine Street, Suite 2500 
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202 
tawietholter(a),woodlamping.com 
Counsel for General Electric Credit Union 

Patrick J. Walsh, Esq. 
319 York Street 
Newport, Kentucky 41071 
Patjwalsh5 5@gmail.com 
Counsel for David A. Klingshirn Individually 
And David A. Klingshirn as Trustee 
of the David A. Klingshirn Trust 
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,MARC TISCHBEIN,.et.,. al. . PLAINTIFFS 

vs. 

SCOTT' HI:CL, etdil. DEFENDAN'ESITHIRll-PARTY PLAINTIFFS 

vs. 

DAVID A. KLTINGSHIRN, et .. al. THIRD~PARTYDEFENDAiN:T.S 

ORDER GRANTING 
SUMMARY JU:DGMENT 

Procedural Posture.: 

1lhfa matter is:,befote the court pu11s1:1ant to·m:otion. ofPfain:iiffs~,:Marc" Tisch:bl€1ri and 

:Peggy Rank:in.("'.fis¢hbein and Rankin.")~ for partial summary j:adgment file? Ap11il 4, 202@ .. 

Defendants/Thlrd-Party Pl_aintiffs,,the Hi1Is,.respondedon April 16, 2020 .. Tischbetnand Rankin. 

filed a Repl): on Apri1l 2':l, .2:020., 

There are ·als0 other motions ·penC!lin,g• before the ,court rw-hicfowi:11 be'.addressed Tu.erein. 

In early 2019 cross moticms for sammaryjudgmenttpartial summary judgment were fi.iled 

by the parties. .By-order entered Aptiil ·6, 2020 tliis'lcourl granted partfal:s-o.mmary,; jµdgnrent to 

•P1aintiffsJ'incling. that they, at a minimum, had'~ru:r irFevocable license)to ·u.se·the property-at 1the, 

. centeir ofthis\·controv.ei:sy. This,court also, dicl a ruHiadverse possession ,analysis: purs:uant to 

Defendants' nrotfon f6r:summ.aryjmlgm:ent which'soughtto have Plaintiffs' adverse 'possessfoD 

elaim. dismissed. This coun found thatPlaintiffs'' adverse possession claim"was compelTing and 

overruled Defendants' motion for smmn.ary juclgmemt. 

l. 

C. Duggins
Alpha White Exhibit
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Nc,:w :Plainti'ffs:have filed this:motion for partial sutnmairy j'.ud.gment on their adverse 

possession.,and easement claims. 'f:he:11ecord is extensive'and th:e relevant facts ·extend .. over 'a 

This action. involves a ,property dispute., ,PlaiDtiffs, Tischbein ;and Rariltin, own 422'· 

R.i;verside.· Drive. :(te_chnicafty 420'-422 Riverside Drive), ,referred to, he:i;eih as; tfie. Main_, Ho.use, .. 

Defendants~ the. Hilfs,.own 109 Shelby .Street, ',referred te;:herein as the-Coach,House; Th~y are 

:adj@ining ptopertfes. 

In 1~?86 David A. Klingshim {''Klingshirnf'), Third' :Pany DefendaE}, purchased- the ·Main 

House. He· partrrered with Tischbein in:the. purchase amd renovation off the Main H0use.. They 

livedi"togetherin :trre Main House,;tb±ougp. 1.9:93__ IDingsliim ;paid approximately two-thirds,. ofthe · 
. . 

expenses.-e!uring,that peJJimf::and Tisch.bein paid a~proX:imately:, one-thirdi. 

On. April. JO~ 1:993,,. Kli:n:gshirn, tisehbein and 'lisclrhein' s :then~fiance, Rankin, join.tty 

purcfiased the Coach House. Ih 1993-94° Kll,i~gshim, Tischbein an,d R'.anki1', rem.odeied/1 and 

updated the Coach ancl Mai'n Houses, and constructed two:. g~r~ges~ a driveway,, ;gate and 

walkways l~etween them .. At that :t1m.e Tischibein and Rankin contribut~d· additional funds 'toJ 

''settle up'' the difference, fa the .amol!m.t Klingshirn had prevfously paid1 for tlie Main House over 

what Tisehb~in,_paid. tischbein and, Rankin then ,pai_d approxJmate1y: two,..t11frd:s of the remodels, 

,and new- construction:. 1<:lin.gshii:n paid appr0ximately one-third. After tlile ,construction: and· 

'remocl.els were .compfote, KHngs~i'rn moved into the· Coach House .. an:d 'J:ischbe'in- and.Rankin:, 

resided in the Main Ho:use. K1ingsbim 'W.as, still the only person,on·the MaiJ,11 1iffouse deed. 

As part of .the ·Coach Hol:lse remodel a new Coach House ''Irortt door'' that faced· 

Riverside Drive ,ctn the north side.,of the property was,,,constructed, as ·well as, a :walkway·from: 

2· 
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that front .d@or to" Ri,vers'fde D1ive. '[{]fagshim lo:cate:d!.his mailbox on that Walkway .ami used :42(.) 

Riverside Drive as his address. Technical~y,, the Coach, House:address was 109 Shelby Street, 

,hllt :it was importanHo KJlingshirn, to maintai1Pthe prestigjoas: .Riverside Drive adhlress {when,he 

Jived. with. Tischbein in the; Main House the address:for the itwo units·were· 42!0 and 4:22 Riverside 

'Drive:)" :fhe-walkway,was focated·on the·,MairnHouseJotand',rart:afong,the west side 0£,the Main 

House thro.u.g}!l its '.Side yard .. 

Onginally,.0Nlyc.one1newgaragewas .constructed' onthe property and·it was for the Coach 

House. It had an,exit .directly intff the Co~ch House basement A.ftert:he· Coach He11se ;garage 

was built the parties. explored, buildi.:tig,a·.Main Mouse garage 0n the. we·st. side of,the Main Hou.s.e 

in:its<srcJe.y,ardt They ran into some difficulties with thatplaeement,:so Kiingshim, 'IischJ,ein and 

Rankin built it next to ,the· Coach House-"g;firage.between. the two )iouses. The outside windows 0f 

the then ,exiisting Coach Ffou.se ,garage· were- removed and. the new Main House:_ garage connected· 

.to the Coach. House garage with;a, .common wal[ The ddveway ·was constructed· so as';to ·service 

:both. garag¢s. Tne only:· m~c~~s to the g~rages .. an:d driveway· parl<lng .was through a ,shaFed _gate; 

'The ei~ctn.city for tn.~ :Main House<garage was ;cennected,,directly to the Main House. There was 

no way to· access one ;garage. from the other. The construction of the.'.two garages, the driveway 

and the gate were .paid• ~pproximately two""thirds, by Tisthbein :and Rankin., and app11oximately 

one:--third by Klitigshim. KMngshitn, Tiscb.bein .. and Rankin. agreed il!l, their ·depQsitions that· the· 

Main House gatage' was built .for use by the Main. Ho.use ·occupant{ls) ,and the ·Coach House 

,garage. was built for use by tn.e. Coach Blouse occupant(s}. 

Fr0m 1993 to.2QO,l,•the parties shared some ownership oftheproperty•.an:d shared the use: 

·of the.-common cfriveway-,,gate and paved. walk.ways :am:ong the properties·-in,a :manner ,con.sistent 

with th¢ir-~etba:l agreement at the thne<the_y-·designed and renovated the .properties. 'fhey •treated 
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th.em, as one property .shared by the three· of them.- The Coach House. and the Coach Flonse 

:garage were,used and;paid for entive1y :byKling~hfrn,(exchl~iveof any moiwgage pa)('ments); and· 

the :Main House. and the Main Bouse garage were· used ·and paiu for entirely by Tisehbein and· 

Rankin (e:xdasive .0f any mortgage payments until later in: 19~0'.s) .. The ;additional driveway 

.parking, whidh mrght l;,e,considereda walkway,, was:used exc11:1sivelyby:''Eischbein and Rankhr. 

From the b'eginning, the relationship Tuetween 'fischbein !and .Klingshirn was one of 

:complete trust and ftiendsbip. ffisch:bein. paid .approximately 0n:e ... thitd of the Main House 

m@rtgage(s) 1n✓the ·early ye·ats 'an.d was, on, at1east one loan,. yet he. was :n0t on the deed!: :Some 0f 

the ifinancing was' :seemed with: K:lingshim's pharmacies.. When K1:inrgsliim, 'Fischbein and 

Rankin .purchased, the, Coach House in 1993 and renovated the· properties, no· written agreement 

was ·executed .betwetm; the three of tlrem. The financial contriBufions, tivi:ng an:angements anct.· 

use,,of the prope1ties· w:ete di'seussed ,artd agreed to, by· a:11 three. As the parties .testi:tied in their· 

depositiatts~ they were .Hke family t(t each other,.. Alk :financ,iaLcontributions were, m.a:de into! an, 

,account named "Tischbein Properties?' and Kfingshlm made the, ;payments from that,account. 

Rankin testifiecl that sometime in. the. late 199@.'s, :she ancl Tis.chbein to0R: over one: 

1Jhundred percent of ;the Main. B1ouse mortgage payments to which Klingsh.im had been. 

contrib.utirrg '.(it appears at the rate:.of a,ppreximately 5'0%,}. There was no(mpttgage on. tne Coach 

House. In. '1998, Klingshirn cleededl one-n.alf ,1nterest of tfre ·Main Hous_e to Tis·clibein {then 

.married to Rankin}:.. Then., :according to Xlingshim, in 20.0.1 he felt ,growin,g concern that his 

,phann.aci'es: .. were' fov:eraged '.by· the Main House, mortgage; Ranlcin testified; .that since sh.e an:d· 

Tisehbein. were making,am the.1:nor:tgage payments: for the Ma1n House, they want.eel to• .refinance. 

with a lower interest ·rate. So, in .20o,l Rarikin, Tisehbein: and. Klingshirn decide'd that Tischbein, 

and Rankin.. would refinance the Main House mortgage ·in their names and the three. of them: 
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would le'g~lly realign. theit: Qwner.shjp ·interests in the -two :properties.. , Tis~hbein, and Rdin: 

became the, so'le~owners, of the Main: Ho1:1se, •and Klingshirn became the· sole owner @f the Coach 

House·. Ftom wliat the. court. can discern, the Main House was then mortg!:1,ged in Tisdhbein '.and 

Rankin's names; and the Cera.ch House was· mortgage-:free. 

The deeds depicted the ,boundaries of .th.e. two lots as they were· before Kling~him, 

Tischbeirr and Rankir(pl!ltthased tire Coach House·.. ,Most ofthe gate~. drirveway and. 1Main Flotrse 

garage that were, built after the· 1'993 purchase were located within the Coach' House pr0perty 

tine .. "Mest 0f the walkway from the Coach Uouse•door t0 Riverside Drive was·focated:withirt the 

Main House property line. 'The drivewar parki~g :spots/vvalkwa:Y· were located within the Main 

House.property· line, and the Coach. House garage· M1:as located' within the Coacl'i ·House property 

line.. Other .paved walkways ran between the :boumdary lines of the· ,two propertie,s.. Fmm the 

deposition. testimony ofKlingshim,. Tisch:bein and Rankin, it appears:, that ,none ·of them ·:gave a 

second thought to the propert:y: Tines. After the 2001 .pr@perty exchangt, :their living 

arrangements and use of the ,properties continued for the next sev:enteen ,'( FZ):: years ;as, they had 

for the previous eigµt {8)::years. 

The· Main Rouse: garage ·continued to be used. amil,paid·,for exc1usively DY< the: Main. House 

occupants, Tiscfi:bein and Rankin, ',and the·:Coach House ga11age continued to be used. and paid for 

exclusively, by the Coach House 0.ccu,pimt, K1ing$him.. T'hey confinueif to . .,share the :driveway 

and gate. During. thisJ period, ifischbein. ,and, 'R:anltin expended: significant ,funds to. replace the 

Main House-_garage: d·eor~ 'install a new outside. Light~ purchase ,garage: door openers; paint the 

garage and· ,install shel:ving; The electricity to the: gate was, assessed .toi. the. CoacMH011se. After 

20l2Tischbein. aml Rankin tpok overall maintenaDce: costs,in:cluding.$2,29.0.:00' foranew·gate 

motor. '!:'hey further paid over ,$8,000.00.; to. repair the dri:ve:way. i\Jll expenses arn:l .tepafrs,rnfated' 
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·solely to the Coach House garage were paid, exclusively by Kli].'.fgshim and all expeFlses related' 

'.solely to the Main Ho:ase ,garage were paid exctusively by Tischbein and Rankin (there is some· 

controvers¥ concerning-whether Kilingshim paid~ property .taxes and insurance asS(jCfated. with the· 

According: to :Klingshirn's. deposition testimony, upon division· of the ·propertx mrd· during, 

1the entire seventeen .(]·\t) years ·that followed, .there :was n:eve:r any- disc'Uissicm ·or commentary 

.regarding own:ership-0r .peJmJ,i.ssive: 11se,of the Main Mouse garage,. drivewaJ,: gfl.te an:d walkways. 

Wherr asked·i,n depositionJf'Eiscnbein ever, told Kil:ingshim that he ,owned the garage,. Klingshirn, 

,responded '~[ think [MarcJ ,th.ought that he 0"'1n:ed thatt,garage because he parked there ..... '' 11
• 

Klingshirn, "'Iiisehbein and,Rankin testined that- there was rui agreement in 19·93.:94, when 

they built :,the Main No.use, garage, that it woutd be for the. ·.Mafa1 House, Klirtg~hb;n testified in· 

·his deposition that ·.at the time of realignment ··of the properties. fo, :2'00'1, he ·:assumed that 

Tischbein,,and Rankin w.01.dd ,keep· using the. Main House garage and he, Klrngshirn~ would keep, 

,using the paved' walikway, from the Coach House,north ·entrance through"the:·Main House:side· 

'yard and maintain his,420 Riverside Drive .address. Klin.gsn.irn testified .that the· '\gentlemen's 
·• I . 

:agreement"was ,created in 1993-94 so that.'tisclibein would,,have a-garage.and'Klingshim woufd 

:keep a Riverside. Drive address. He further testified that after they sp'lit the properties, they 

(continued •:to treat them, as 1one propetty ruid he .assumed they '\vould 'sell :ithe :properties, tQgether. 

Tischbdnarrd Rankin testi.fiedfthat ther :believelttw:hen they 'spliUhe,ptoperiies.in 2UOJ, they got 

full own.ership of the Main, House gar~ge; Ittr fa.et~. Rankin testified that when :they discussed 

:splitting the ·properties: in 20Ul, the three of them veFbaUy agreed that she and· 'Fischbein would 

,continue to ,own. the garage .. 

·1 Klingshirn d~position,,Jtme 17,., 2019, pc1ge 106. 
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.At 'some- point prior to K:lin:gshimi's 'salt} of the -Coach Hm1se,- Klingshirrr expressed to 

Iischbeirr.,an:interest to se!fl., He wanted· t0 sell the properties together toc1maximize' tb:e· profit._ If 

not:sold together he Iiad hoped that TischTuein and Rarikih woulc:t bµy the Coach: Rouse. from him. 

"Tisclioein. a1ilG Rcmkin en.tertain.ed selling the properties to;gether .. · 'fb,ey<had pro~pe~tive buyers: 

view· the Main House.. they were:,diisappointed ,that the 'v.'a1ue of the two properties, together were · 

'assessed by a real estate professional )below theh expe.ctafrons,. . They -c,tirdn:'t, have: .any setfo.:us; . 

::buy.:ers express- an i-lil.tere:st clO"P8:Y the· amount they .desired. 

Klingshirn blamed Rankin for the failare .to sell 1the pr0perties, t~gether. He was' upset 

that Tlischbefa and Rankin did n:0t offer t<:l purdhase the Coach H0use· from him. In 2017 he, 

,decided to Hst: the Coaeh Mouse; He informed' Tischbein. ofhisidecision. 

In light of the K1ingshim's; de·cisio.n. to sell, Tischbefal and Klingshirn had discussions, 

,about getting easements before the Cbach House was soid. Klingshim testified' thaJ :Y1e wantedi 

the ''gend'emen',s·- a-gree:mentr' to -pass to ,the new .owners:; Tis¢hbeirn that :h.e ''just. -wanted to get 

daii-cy 'Of 0a: ,document that cmnfimis our ownership.?'2- He said, ''all' we know is that we ·were· 

:ownets· ofahat garage and ,-access to that;garage·. "3 · 

On the origin.al MLS li:sting of the Coach: House· property,:, based :upon: the property plat 

•maps frle:df.,,ofrecord,_. two garages:were·Listed. :S~mefiinein 201'7, KliQ,gshirn''8' realtor,, ,Michael 

Hinckley ("Hincl<le.y"J, had hroc~ures· made: to market -the. Coach, House. The brochures listed 

.the property as havi~g two garages.. Tisehbeilil ,and Rankin were ·upset when they :sa:w the · 

ibrochures-and told Klingshim-he,needecl to. change·_them to. reflect that the- Coaeh H@use had only, 

one garage. Klingshirn agi:eed arrcl ,had Hincldey redo:-the Turochures-. The MLS listi4g was als0 

'changed to .refleet ,that. the _propett)'.: 'had· only one :garage. Klingshirn did :an "interview with .a 

2 Ti:schbeJiiLdgposition, page.:Ss. 
3
-Tl:Sch'beilil'dep0:sition; page286. 
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reporter wh0 was wmting an atrticle ·for. the; Enqairer about the new uni'Giwe property going on ·the· 

market. The· pubHsh.ed article descrihed the property as·, h~ving. 'Olile' garage. the r.eporter· 

executed' an affidavit stating that-Ktingshim told,'him the. pr@peqy had one ;garage, 

:on October2:3., 2017,, ,Kl-ingshlrn·:executed,a Seller':s DiscfosPJJe of P,rnperty Comdition. 

In· it Ktmgshim ·ackn:0:wledged that lfo did not kn(tw· the.;prorterty boundaries, anduthat he. was· not 

aware· ·of 1any en:croacnm:ents or unrecorded easements re'lated to tlle- property. Pie futthet 

disclosed that there were. features,:o-f the prnperty :slmred Oin- cmmnon with adjoining landowners 

·w-ithotdsex,r,1anation.,. 

_ Hi:nckfey discussed, with potential buyers tkat most of tne neighbors' gar.age· was. ,on, the 

Coach HouseJ~roperty withoutan easement. He, also disc:ussed thatthe walkway fr0m the ,Coadi" 

House door leading fo, Riverside Drive was- m1 the Main House property with.ol!lt an ·easement.. 

· At least one potential buyer,:expressed an ,,intetest''in getting easements for both befoie making :an 

offer to purchase; In. the· .end, no ·offer was made· by. that- p@tential fa.1yer. 

Oh FreoruatJ 16, 20'18, L@tTie, Hill,, r>efendant/Third ,Party JPlafati'ff went . through th:e _ 

:Coach House: with her realt©r•,-.Sharon HiJinski {"Hilinski''). She•:emailecl Hitinski afterward, that 

she was sttrprnsed :that i;t was listed: .as :a. two-car garage when if •;seemed. the ,garage: was,:oniy orre· 

SJDace. She had· seen the original MLS listing stating the proper:ty had two garages. She 

questioned whether the: Main House garage was: owned. :by the. MaiR Hottse o:n if there was -aft 

easement. Hiliinsky respended:to Lorrie statin.g that Hinkler,itofot. her the nei:ghbo:r''s garage . .'is 011 

. d 1,. . th · .. · . · '"· l .,: " H'nkl Klingshim'•s1 :properey, an 1 t1iat -ere 1s· no easemen~, Just a gent emen s a,greement. .1 ·i · -e,y 

t@lcl Klingshirn, to put the :arrangement in in.writing: 'in,lega:bterms and Klin,gshim said lie would 

:when he fofilld.a bl'lJeL 
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Klingshirn. rea:cihed out to a •city .official ·on March 2o, 2tlJ;8: viac ,email stating, '"I need 

direction ,aml advicec to have·a do0111lfent Irega.rdiDg].:easement for 422 Riverside: Drive: fand] ,l 09 

:Shelby. ·we share a cm:mnon dri.Ye ,and walkway;M Klin:gshim was· not :happy that he ,might 

:have to pay a professional to- 'el>tain the ·easements. Tisch.bein testified that he · assumed" 

Klirrgshim: was :handliNg the .matter.. Rankin testified that she assumed Tischbein. and' Klingshim, 

were handl1ng, the" matter., IG.ingshim testified that he l0oked into it but chose not to .foifow 

;through because lie Jhou,ght Tisehbein and Rankin should ·ha:ve to. pay for :tit _since they 1eamee:i1 

.m0re, money· than him. Fie admitted! he was "perturbed"' with. Tischhefo ,and Rankin for not 

offering to.cpay, for it. 

On :Match: 17,. 2918; ihe: Hills, made. c.in @ffer to' _purchase, -,the Coach Mouse for 

$57:5,00:0.@0: •. T:he asking ·price was $725,00mom The Hills expressed -that-the ,rationale for the 

!low -offer included the fact that there was actually one garag~, ,not two.. They had Bilinski. 

'Convey .that1 rationale to.I(lingsh'.im. 

On: March 19, 20JR,. the Hilfs signed the~Se'ller's· Di:sclosure oJ Pr0,perty Condition. 

Klingshirn counterecl the Mi]ls' :offer :for $625;00'0:;(~J). The Oounter-"Of:fer stated that as 

an integnal wart ;of the contract, "i[tJhe adJoiriirig:property t422 Riverside .. IDr.)..gatage is. p.artially 

'on the -·subJect pro~erty." 'On March 2⇒, '20'1"8, the Hil1s· e:xe,mted the 'Contract to Purchase: for 

$625;0'.00.00. Both ,Lorrie :and.1 Scott Hill testified that :at that :p:oint in time,. owrrership of the 

Main House,.garage w.as .. :q1iestfon.al:,le in their minds. They were, however, aw1:1r.e ·0f the past and 

ongoin:g,,Main House"garage·usage. 'by Tischbein and;Rankin. 

The. Coach House was· then appraised far :$6:50,000:,()(): oased. :Rpcm :one :one:-car g~age .. 

Prior to·the:June 4, 20!18 dosing, tlre'HHJs had tnepr.operty surveyed. The May· 31, 2D]i8 survey 

report revealed ,that FllCi>Sl of the, Main House ,garage was located ,on the ,Coach iFIQuSe property. 
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ln an email to Bilinski on June 3,. 20'18, Lorrie Hill said" she was' pleasantly· siitpnised that the 

survey revealed that 1110st. of the Main: House :garage, was. on the Coach House jproperty,,. :Slie 

wanted assurance that 110, new ·easements or .agreements- had been JHed .regarding the Coach. 

House. property since ·they signed the Contract to Purcllase.. Klingshirn and the· Hills, ck)sed on 

the sale on June 4, 2018. 

Qr,1: June 29, 20f8, .a meeting took place between -the Hills and 'fisclibein and Rankin 

.regarding tuse of the Main Ho.use garage. A .written license·:0agreement ·was ,offered by the Hills. 

There, was disagreement between them. 

In July 0f 20}8 tlie Iflills, aml Tischhein and Rankin, hired atterney,s· who convey.ea -to· 

. each other their positions regarding, tne property ·dispute. TheJHills p&ysfoally; blocked· 1::ischbein 

and Rankin from usi:ng the·garage, ;gate arrd: driveway. 

St,me time, at the end .of August, 2,0]8, Klingshirn met with the. Hills at Notre Daine 

Academy {'tND:A") in Park Hills, Kentucky. The Hiil:ls.' daughter was to atten.d MDA and 

Klingshirn wanted to introduce the Hills. to the Notre IDame 'sisters. During their t,ime. at NOA,. 

Klin:gsliim and the-Hills. discussed the' propetly,sitaation.b.et:ween tne: Rills and Tischbein and 

Rankin. Lome Hin~ ·unbekn:ownst to KHngshirn, recorded the,-con:versation,between. .Kliqgshim,. 

Scott Hirnandhersetf. A.:transcri:pt,ofthat recording,hasbeen entered into the record .. 

During.that conversation,.Lorrie Fiilll·c01weyedto'KHngshim,that i.fhedi<d not.say that he 

gave pemiission to Tisch0ein to use that •garage~.then.Tischbein-wquld own.it. $he then 

sugg~sted _that their. attorney w0u.td, in tum, sue. Klingsnim·. 'She went on"to say that there. was ·no. 

need .foi;, thatbeeause, Klingshirn just needea to :sigrr· an'affidavit saying he:,gave. Tisdhbein anff 

Rankin.permission to use the 0garage·and that would JD.Utta sto,p to the law:s:uit. Scott Rill told 

Klirrgshim·that Lome couldttype--11:pan affida:v:it:and send'it on to Klingshim''s attorney. 
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Klingshi:m responded '~here~'s the deal,. whatever, you writejt ~p.''5 · Lorrie-Hill.prepared the; 

A:~gust 2'7, 20:18· affidavit and .Klingshinrsigne"d it. 

That affida¥it,:statecl. that Klingshirn specifically allowed and p.ermitted Tischbein ·and 

:Rarikin-t0 use the Main House garag~ and that Tischbein. and Rankin paid no expenses .relating to 

-its use excewt for a periodic· service ca:11 ·on the: electric: gate, and driveway maintenance .. lfo 

'.Stated·that fischbein. and Rankin n.e:ver made any·claim 01'.assertion or:act thanhey, had any 

·ownership interest in it.. He .further attested that'i"ischbeirr:and·RarilcitLknew .or·.shotrld have 

;iknowrr that use of the Main Hous·e g-;;rrage was,allowed by Kfingshim as·ian ·oqgoing·:g~sture nf 

goodwill :and· friendshi;p and nothing. more. 

':fhis action-was filedtomAugust 3T,.2'0t8!;by 'Fischbein.and Rankin. 

On ,!\,fay, 2, 20'.1.9, Kl:imgsh:im, executed;:atiother,affidavit ineor:porati'ng'.the pteMfous 
' 

affidavit.. He further stated that he inql!lired about an easement ·for the Marn Ho;us.e garag¢ b1:1t 

,nothing came 0fit. .He.stated that.he has alway:s·rnaintained tl:tathe own:edthe~Mait1Elouse 

·garage, l:lnd between the time he accepted the Hills' offer on the .. Gbacn House and the'time they 

d0sed .on tlie sal~, he· infom1.ed the· SiUs ·that he.:alfowed Ti'schmein ancl Rankin to use H putsuant 

t " +I· · · · ·' · · t ,., , 0 a· .. g~n~ ·em.en. s agreemen . 

that the ,on:ty v.erlDal discussion reg,arding the, .use. of the Main.HQ use garage was the ;gentlemen ':s 

agreement between:,he and Tischbein irn 1993--94° when Klhtgshirn, '.fishbein,,a:md Rankin 

purchase·dthe,('.oach Mouse and des'ign.ed the:renovation of tlle Coach House property:and:Main 

H0use .property for their shared- use: as:cone property, with the common,g~al that Tischbein w:e.uld 

b.ave a garage,and Ktingsnim would have a Riv:erside Drive:;address..6' He fmrthe:r testilfied·that 

·55 KJingsnirti June·17:. 20,19,deposition,,pa·ge·.147'. 
6·KlingshJrn-June 17,,,201!9 deposition, .p. 73.; 
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:they ,never discussed @wnership. :or permissive: use of.the Main House gat'!lge after that. •He statecl 

.that the. permissive. nature of the use ofthe Main House garage wa,assumed. 

Findings, and Conclusions-: 

Summary !Judgment. 

1the 'standardffo:r summaryjudgnrent requires the c0Uifit t0, view the record' in the light 

most :favorable· tu4he. no11-movarit; .and for: the movant 'to::•show the· non~existence·-·of:arny 'fssu:e· of· 

rnatenial fact~ and make that·showiqg with suell"cfatity that .there is: n.o_;room left fot controversy. 

'OR 56 . .03.. lifke fai:lure:o:ffth.e. non-moving party-1© present evidence iR contradictiorr0t©•,the 

evidence· in :-support t~fthe motion for 'summary j,11d,gmemt dffes·;m1>t in itselfjusti:fy a,gtanting:.,of 

the motiom; however, .the party opposing-" ... ,a .properly supp011ted summaryjudgmenJ motion" 

ca:rWlot defeat,such a tnotfon without presenting "at least some affifJ1ilative11eVidence:sh0wing that 

there is a gero.uine issue ofmaterial fact for trial:'' See Steelv:est, Inc. :v. B:cansteel Service Center, 

:Inc.,_&07 s:.W:.2:dZl-?5{1!991_). The1;inquir,yiswhether, fr0m-the:evidence-ih the i:eeord,.facts exist 

which would make· it po:ssibYe for":the ncm,,.m.(l°\iing party to, prevail. 

Adverse-Possession 

]n @rder t-0 establish title tht'.ough adverse possession aH t)fthe following mus:t be met:at 

all time-throughout a . mfteem-year statutor:y period: 

{I) Possession. must be,'ho.stik·andund,:er--a cfa:im:of 
•rigJit;· {2)' it mustbe actual;. (3) it 'lJ!llfSt bei Qpen and rrot0Fi0us; 
.,c4J.it mustbe exdushre, and:(5),'itmast he conltinuotrs.'7. 

The .niinin.1:um fifteen-:Year period oftime,,ariss.ue here begins· in 2001 .. 

·•
7"Tar:tar "'· 'fucker, 280"S.W..:2d :LSO;-ls:t(Ky .. 1955-.)'. 
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.Starting ·with theJfftli req,ui:uement ·and moving backward; the deposition and affidavit· 

:testim0nynfKiin,gshlm, Tischbein-and Ranltin"is.,undisputed .. During, tn:e_ I>·eriod ,of 2Q01 throl!lgh 

201:7 ·on.ly Tischbein and Rankin used the. Main Rouse garage. 'The use was;-continuous. 

The'.fourth requirement, that: possession :be·,exclusive is·also un0iisputed. 'Ehe Main House 

garage~c0ula not be-,ace.essed· from.the Coach House garage._ Klhrgshitn never used or ,even 

:attempted 10 l!ls¢-the- MainJH0use garage~ Ktingshim,. Tischbein··and Rankin aHitestified that the 

uMaiti House .garage,was used exclusively-.by Tisehhein and Rankin tfot the .. entfre time. 

K.li~gslnrn-admitted tnat''ihealways thought ofitas 'fMa:uc's garage'' or ''Marc';s mancave." 

In order to1.sati'sfy·the third-element; that possessieimhe open and.notorious, possession 

must be conspicuous ~nd not sec:ret; so that -the i~ga:l title hofider:has n0t1ee· ol''the adlverse as.e .. 8 

After .2001,, Klingsrurmwas the tide holder ofa11li>St ofithe, property upon.-w.hieh: tke :rvfain House -

,garage.•was built.. Klingshirn was aware that Tfsch0ein. 'aild' Rankfo exercised control @ver, the 

·Main .f:louse·,garageina ,mariner tha:twoutd appear to the· wo:ttld that they o:wn:ed it.-

:Not 0my did· Tischb€in. openly used the Main Hous.e :g~age, all maill.tenance·:for it ,was 

paid, for IDYi T.ischbein and Rankin. A rtew:garage ·doo:v was· chosen and:paia for by J;;i$cHbe'itLand 

'Rankin, as.well as new openers, outskfo lighting.and pai:nting, 'Iischbe.in and R:ankin had ,storage 

shelves'. constructed ·':i,n that garage, Klingshirn was:aware, of all of this-.. :By ,their use amh:action 

T:isehbein and Rankin. showed that they intended to p,ossess the· Main. Bol!lse garage to the• 

:exclusion of all others-. Tiseb:bein;an.d .Rankin testified that they believed they owned the: gar.age 

after the:,propertywas.re~ligned. They believed-that the :Main House garage went with the: Main 

House. Klingshim,·l'ischbein;an.cf Rankin all t~stifiecl that the~. believed that when they built the 

Main House, garage in 1'993-94~ it was· built .and·:intended for.that pmpose; 

·s'A.ppalaohlam,,RegionaFHealthcar:e; Inc., v;. 'Ro.ya/Cr:own-.B'oft:ling Co.,. 824 S,W'.2a''8:7:8,'880 (KV,.1992);. c.ifir,g,Sweeten 
0v. Sartin,.256.S.W.2d 524; 5261(Ky.1953:)i 
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E>efendants arg~e that .Klingshirn paid additional real ,estate tax and 'ins.mance because df 

,his ownership ofthe :gar~ges. That claim ,is, questfonable, hut that gl0ne would not ciestroy 

1ischein':s rurdl'Rarikin's-.claim ofadyerse' p0ssessfom. 

Ihe:,second reqµirement is;,that Tisch:beirt and Rankin ,actually·;possessed. the Main House. 

!garage. The testimony on thls point is not in dispute. 11re uncontroverted testimcmy .. reflects,.that 

Tischbein·de·aned his car· in: the driveway almost every, day and parked it in the garage every 

:night. The testimon,y. further shows that Tiscl'ibein. spent :a·.fotof time fo-:his garage and st©red: his. 

and Rankin·' s' .personal property in there: According to K1ingshim, :J'ischbe.in hung out in. that 

:garage all the time withhis dogand,his radio. 

The first requirement, thatpossession be hostile and sder a daim of.right i:s where tfue 

Hills contend that Tischbein:and Rankin's ·adverse possession daim· faiFs·. 

".In·order, to m:ake,'.a:n adverse claim definite, the adverse po~ssessttu, must have !either some 

eofor ,of title: that wm show the :extent 0nhe claim or there must he a- definite boundary./;9 If 

·.s0meone :is in;actuall:,adverse p0ssession of property with0ut c0lot of tine~ "he mu.st ha:ve: well-. . ' 

'defined b0undaries of'his. ,possessicm. 10 

The only cofor oftitfo that Tischbein arrd Rankin :have iis :that a portion of th.e north wa1'1 

{closest t0 the Main HoNse)is .. foeatecl.within the.Main Mouse.property line. OtheFwise, the 

ihmmdary ofthe Main Ho:use garag¢ which ''Eischbiin,amd Rankin(are ass.ertin,g ,ownetsliip:·of~ is. 

·obvious~ywelt-mar.ked and adj'acent to the Main.House .. It iS.'separated from the Coach House 

!garage 'bya: wall. It 'is. inaccessible from the Coach Howse garage; It adJoins and is FJatrtially on: 

the Main House property: The electricity Tirre to the Main House garage conn.ects·to the 'Main 

iflol!lse. Tischhein arrd Rankin hay,e•:,clearly defined their iclaim of right. 

9''Appalachian Regio.na/.:Mealtbcare, at880; Gifing;Cou'lton v. Simpson, 96 S:W:Zd 856':(Ky•,1936). 
:to.sbepherd'v; Morgan, 246 S. W.2d 131\'.(Kydl:951:~; 
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IR. order for possession to be adverse, a possessor musf "openiy evinc.e a,pui;pose· tb hoM 

clcmiinion over the pmpertywith such hostility that wi.U ,give .the non.:possessory owner .notice ,of 

th:e adverse:clairn."1t "['il]he character of the property, its.physical nature and the-use,to whlehit 

has;,been pu:t,,determines the 'Cli1wacter of acts nec·essary to put,ithe· true 0wrrer on nofree that a 

hostile:daim is· befrrg asserted."12 These factual assertions of:hostility.:by Tischbeinand Rankin 

.are discuss.ea' in this 'opinion.,analyzing the third.element ofan :adverse claim, that possession, be· 

open,ancl noto:vious; Tischbein and Rankin used :the Main House garage ina inanner consi:stent 

with the:sicze, and character ofthe, pr~p·erty and its: intended pur;pose upon: c:onstmction by, them 

and Klingshirn. Tut rulf sight of Klh1gshim, they treated itas thefrprQperty, with a:11 the benefit 

and re~ponsibility,,that accompanies·. ownership. K:lin,gshim testified thatJisd!ibeirt'thougJ:,tt he· 

,owmedit 

When an ·occupant o'btainS'possession of land under thermi'stakenlbe:Iiefthat tlte,:property 

is ili1s, and he: conveys noAntention :O'lsurrendering. the· disputed Nroperty, hecis, ,in fact, 1J.gld,ing 

the propert:y adverseJy113• Jh1rtherrr1ore, phys1c:a!l itt\provement to,th:e property :clemohstrates: the 

possessor':s intent to, adversely hold the propem:y}4 

Klingshirn maintains that Tischbein ·and Rankin''s· possession ofthe pr,openty. \'Vias· 

permissive rather than hostile; This.is the:real crux of':this controversy. Where an owner :of 
' 

pi:o.perty has ,granted. someone permission to use ,[that] preperty:, a claim ofad:vers·e possession. 

cannot be·deemed hostile.15 "[P]ossession '.by permissi0n·cannotripen info'.litle no matte1c how 

lo:ng. it continues. "16 

11 :A:ppalachian Regional'lrlealthcare, at:880. 
12 Ely v, Fuson,.180 S.W.2d1!90;(Ky,App .. 1944'). 
13 Tartar:, at 153·. 
14'Appalachian Regibnal"l:lealthcare; at.·880\. 
15 United Hebrew Cor:,g,:egationuof Newportv: Boise,;; 50S.W.2d 45,{~y.193Z). 
16 Phillips v;.l!,'ker:s,.103 S.W.3d 705, 708 ,(Ky.App;2O_02). 
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Kfingshim asserts that Tischbein and Rankin's ·permitted use':ofthe ·Maih Ho:use:;gatage 

was p.msuant to a '~gentlemen's agr:eem.ent" but he admits that this vetbaf agreementwas,,entered. 

,into in 1993-94: when K.1.it:igshim, 'Tischbein and: R:ankinj~inily 0wned the,Caach Hol!lse .and they· 

made· plans·:tqgether Jor r:enovatfons.. Aecording<to~Klingsnim, ·nschbein .and Rankin, ,;the 

·agreement ,enc.om:pass·ed' builcting the Coach FloNse garage for use by tfie:-Coach H0use• 0ccupant, 

building a Main Hol!lSe garage for :use :by the Main House occupant, building a walkway from a 

newly constructed Coa:ch H@Nse· front,.door. to Riverside Drive, for usage by the Coach Hoase 

occupant to :retain the Riverside Diiive addr:ess,.r,and building a gate, driveway and :other 

walkways for the' shared use by· the occupants. of both lio:use·s. :Klingshirn te·stified that in.is, 

"gentlemen's a;greement" was: nev:er diset1s,sed between hi:n1selfand Tisehbemandtor Rankin any 

time after the design and construction nfothe property re.rro;vatioms:wkiq.li took place prior to. 200 ], 

and which included the construction .oflhe Mai11':ffouse gauage. Ffo simpiy testi:fied!ttlrat the: 

permissive name .of Tischbein,and Rankin's use ,of the Main House garag¢ a:fterthe· property 

realignment was assumed. Tischoein •and. Rankin testified that.th.ey believed they owned·it, and 

openly behaved consiste.rrt with;that belief .. 

FurthetmoFe,, rather than discuss· his, o:wm.ersfilp 0f th:e: Main House garage and 

·tiscb:bein.~s use thereofas· p,ermissive after the property split,. Klingshirn coperrlytreated it as· 

Tischbein' s garag~ amd :was aware of and·ex-peeted Tischbein .and Ra.nkini?s, incurren:c.e: ,of 

expen:ses· t0' upgrade•an.d maintain:; it. Whenasked: in: depositiomifhe paid for arty o'fthe 

maintenance., upkeep-or improvement 0fthe 1MainHouse.:garage, he, ans;weue'd tha:t there wouldt 

have, been no reason for h:iin. to -do so. 

Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin had an unusual relatfomshi,p 0vertlie thirty years.ror so. 

They-did mot routinely :rr.educe to. writing: thefr business dealings. amongst themselves. :Fo;r 
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,eX!ampre,, J<Jingshiroand 'if ischbein boughnhe Main House together with 'Trsel'ibein,initially 

-paying, appmximately one"'twd of'fhe"movtga,ge payments .. He was .err at· Ieasl 0ne loan 

.,~g,reement•with:Klihg~him. ,After.·appim~imate\y seven years.'J:ischbeiruevened up his. 

investment in the .Main Hoµse with Kii:Ugshim".s. Still, it ,wasn't l!mfil 1'998, that Tisch.bein was" 

put on tli:e. cleed with K1ingsliim as a :co~owner. Large ,sU111s:were spentr-u:n.~the pmchase ofthe 

:,Coach House and thedmprovemerlts·o:fthe tw@properties in 1993-94, yetnothing w:as/ppt into. 

writing ·~peeify,ing the,,percentage" ofo:wnership or expense obligatfonStofKTingshirn,, Tischbein 

:and Rankin. 

The deeds to,the Coach House and the ;MaimHouse,,w:ete nexrer colil1Jbined to reflect one 

property,. but ,they--::tU: trea:ted:,them,as. ·one. When they swlit tli.e property they ·simply eonveyed 
. ' ' 

the· oniginal deeds.to eaeh other. The failure to ·:s,pecify in the deeds thafthe Main :Hel!lse gavage. 

was part. of'the Main. House· propel'tj woutdlappear typical oif'the; manner .in which,Klirrgshim, 

Trischbein.an:d.Rarikin.dfol business:t1:)'g¢th:er: 

Ti:seb:Tuein and :Rankin testified that they beii'eved:that they got excfusive:'owrtershi,p of,the 

Main FI0use::garage·upon r.ealrgrunent of.the propertiesin-2001. Rankin testified that in 200'1, 

wb.en the properties were .. c0nv:eyed .to· each other,. they had a verbal .agreement that she and­

Tisehbein would retain exc"lU$iY:e ·0wnershi_p of the Main. House garage_,. 

In every-way, ]ischbein ·and Rankin, openly, treatecl tl'ie· Main House garage-as their 

1ptoperty. When Kling~him put the ..Cbach House :on the matket and tlte realtor :prin.te~r tl:yers1 

·showing the·prqperty had two,garages, 'Fischbein and :Rankin,immediately obj;ected by 

,e:xpressing1that·the:Goa¢hlfo1:1se had only·0ne :gamge. Klingsh:im-acted consistent :wi:th-.that 

belief by :charrging.,the sales literattwe. 

17 
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When Tischbein and Rankin refused to purchase the Ooach House :from Klingshim,.and 

pulled out-:of selling, the two pro.petties-together, Klingshirn adootted he:-was hurt and upset. It 

wasn't until he had pote:ntiakbuyersi-.show interest.that he expressly claimed ownership., That 

expression,. h0wever, ,~as to the potential ·buyers', not Tischbein and Rank:111, and it was :seventeen:_ 

years:after he obtain.et]: ·exclusive ownership or the'.Coach House .. 

"Eyen_ 'tfTischbeimand.'Rankimexercised,0:wnership.·ofthe ;garage knowing. the title was 

:with Kllngshim the hostn:i~ element of adverse possessfon·is,;not destrofed. The fa:ctr th~t 

Klingsh.irh did. not 0bj:ect ifo:,Tisclibein ancl.Ranki111:s:·continued .use,ofthe.:;gatage after the d.eeds: 

were execRted d<Jes:notconstitute permission. ''The owner1·s;mere knowledgeofthe:p.ossession 

:Tby ar:.th.ird pa~yl ... [does]' not destroy hostility:''17 

Without some .aet ~y W:lin.gshim conveying his .assent to Tfischbein and Rankins'·s use-,of 

his .pr0perty, ·pem.1:ission :canrn'>t be iinpli'ecl. Otherwise, there would:essent1al1y1be no elaim for 

_a:dverse: possession in the,Gomm0nweahh of'.Kentucky. 

!he only. p·eo-ple: who· can, testicy ,as: to wlietner,. at any time dutir\g the •'flfteen,years 

beginning. in 2001, Klingshirn made any :assertion that Jlischbein's and R:anlcln.'s ·1:1se·o:f.the 

garage was. pem1rss1ve. are Klingshhn, 'TiischbeiR ,and Ranlan. Tischbein: and Rankin testified 

that he·.di_d :not.. Klingshirn testified that it :was never;discussed afterc, the t:993""94 reno:vation 

plans wlien all three parties ·o.wned the Coa¢h,House. 

There• were two affidavitS''executecl 11;>y Klingshirn: after the onsehofthis legal c0ntrovers3/, 

On.e. was @Fl. :At;tgust 27, 2@18, afte:i;"his discussion wid1 L0rrie Lffii'll, whlm:::in he• made the 

·condusocy statement,that from·2001 · tl:i'rough 2():18 Tischbein':s:_and Rankin:·'s use· was. permissive, 

H'Hertinger,v;· Brewster; '35i7S.,W.3d,92Q, 93'0{Ky,App.2Q12), dti'ng, 3 ~ober1t W ... Ke~ts,,:et. al.,. Kenta_tk,y,Practice: 

.Methods·of,Ptactice ,i:s.3:(3d ed. 19'89):. 
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,and that they knew or ·shouMJ1av:e kn.own that: the cl!lSe w;as: aw,ongoing:gesture ·of,gootlwiU and 

friendship. He .made·n0 ,claim that he· ma<1k anJ act or gesture to,•convey that to them .. 

The:second affidavit was exeeuted"oniMay '2, 2019 well after this ,action was underway. 

In that ·:0ne· he ·states that he "allowed an.d p,emi~tted the T:isclibeins to· confinue, to use tire second 

.garage;at 1'0'9 Shelby~ even thouglitn.ey no longer.·had an ownership.interest in the·pr@perty.?' 

WJien speci'fica:lly,-: askea about that:pennissionin de;posiitfon, he.testifiecl :that they never 

.discussed.: it during: th:e period of time that To:e owned the .Coach House exc1wsively .. He furthe1t 

·states in his' affidav·it that ,he wormed the Hilts that he allowed. the Tischbei'n.s, to use the Maiff 

House gaEa,ge pursuant to a gentlemen''s a,gr.eement.. All Klingshim testimony .regavdjng veir:t;al, 

:agreenren:t ,oiftthe ase· of the Main House garage, referenced the "gentlemen's a,greement'' enter.ed 

into around ]993, when he and Tischbein both owned the {'.oa~h Bouse, and discussed ptans for 

the building of the :garage., the walkway·to Riverside :-Oiive :andr·,other renovations. 

Following both affidavits KHngshirn was d~posed. ·Once on June Tl, 20[ 9 an:d .once on 

July 2, 20;f9. Whelil asked: directlrwhether he. specifically gave: permission to Ti:schbein and 

Rankin to usecthe Main House garage 1:1poF1 and ,since re£tlignment of.the propert,y in '2.00ll, he 

simply said .iit was assumed. Again, he ,pointed to no: positive act conveying his assent to their 

·use<of the ;garage. 

In.deposition, Klihgshitn testified that he assw:ned· either the twe· properties wo,uld be, sol& 

togeth:e1\ oi; that Tischbei'n and Rankin would buy the Coach :ffouse frcom. nim when he. was 

ready, so there was ao· need't0 cliscuss who' owrred the ·Main H\JU"se garage. K.li11gshirn:?'s: internal 

thought proces-s, however, is not equivalent to::an: act,of assent. ll'Ie has :sho.wrN10 act ,i11ferrfrrg 011 

expressing :permission. 
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Klingshitri'.s testimony 0fthe. facts stwrounding the· division of.the property in200,l, :the 

timing,.ofthe· "gentreman',s agreement" arouncl 1993 when they lbo:u,ght'the Coach H~11se'together 

artd planned ,renovations, .his testimony that Tischbeilltbeiieved he· owned the garage. aNd1he:that 

never made an: e~pression to the contracy,to Tischbein,.·and;his. own jbehavior tbward Jisc1:'fbein' s, 

use.,oflhe garage: for the·seventeem:(Ji.7),years beginning in 20'01 make it el ear tliat n0 :expression 

ofpe:mnissio:n to use ,or, act.o:f:assertion,:of ownership of the gar~ge was .. ever ;conveyed to 

Tiscfu:beinan:d Rankin.durin:g,.the period that he was.the sole,owner ofthe Coach House. 'The 

1993,,genilemen'.s agreemetit was .simply an. oral agreement estaBliship:g shared 1:1se,:o(jointly 

Plaintiffs have, established title through iadverse. possession by ,establishing the existence 

.of a:11 tlve dements nftheir claim :for a ·tifteen-year period. Defendants, in turn, have failed to 

show any act by' Klin.g~him ,asserttn:g his ownership or coBveying his consent t_o Tischbein';s- and 

Rankins' s use 0f1her,property whichwould bar their claim., 

Finally, the NilFs: argue. that: hecause!Tischbein'and Rankin,were ·part ·c:>wnets ofthe ·Coach 

House· when it was deeded to Klingshirn:, the· lorrg,.esta:blished rule that!a·vendor oflandithat 

remains, in,1p0ssessi<:m,of theolarn;l.after the conveyance is deemed to ho'ld undet theiven:dee, -not 

againstthe vendee·applies. The Hills rety•on Dishman ·0v. Marsh.18
~ In Dishman,. the property in 

question was:land ac}Joiningca-home that.had been'in the gr.an:tor'·s fam.fty for·manyyears. Mrs. 

Dishman conveyed' :the properfyto·.her son-in-law in l 9l-,1-in t:eturn: for their' cate,.of her in her 

. later years. Five years' later, ~hough,, her -daughter and son'-in-fa:w.JJefttown. The. son-in .. faw 

continued to pay property·tax .0n. the·:_property iB his· name.. The property was eventually 

purchased to•.s_a:tisfy his·tax deot. 

18 '.128'5':W:20 .23'5,:(Ky,App.1939). 

2}Qi 
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The ccnut found that there was: no (change of.the character ·ofM.ts:. 'Dishn:l:an's; possession 

· for the, twenty years a:fl:er her 'son-iin-lawJefnown; s0 there. is:-a presumption that.her possession 

was peaceable. That presumption:could :only,be challenged 'by·:a showing ofher open, ,notorious, 

,,continu0us and' adverse p,ossessictn:.119' The c:oulit: :found thatthere was no such ·showing. The 

··court further found anc:lconsidered·that an,innoeent buyer was.'.involved. 

Th.at 'brings us tight back to where we •:started. There is a p~esumption that the title holder 

retains,.ownership. ·o:fiproperty w1ess1the elements ofadverse.possession have :be.en. proven. by 

·clear and·convihcing e:viclence . 

. In :this case~ the. s'iruatfomis a'Jittte more complicated because Klingshirn is.also :the 

grantor ofthe :Main]d:ouse ,gav~ge .. lie,· along with Tischl,ein ancl Rankin, .eonveye,t.legal title to 

hlmself. 

F·uFtnefliITore.~ tlie~Hi:I:ls· were not innocentbuyers; '.iI'hey p1!1tGhased1ithe. property knowing 

that Tischbein and Rankin':s i:i.ght to the Main House garage was questionable. 1.The court is not 

:·convinced that.simp~,y"b·ecause 'Fischbein and Rankin:dtd. not m.0ve:·0u.f,ot the ;g:a:rage, then mcrve 

back in after the '2001 conveyanc·e, they are :barred from asserting::an :ac\lverse'possession cfaim­

u.nder::tl!te ¥endor/vemlee rule, 

_Bas·ement 

Plaintiffs· also seek presctipt'ive :and7or ,quasi-easements for the wse of.the Main House· 

driveway and eliltrance·:gate. 

"As·with adYerse possession ,of :a fee .simple estate, a prescri,ptivei:easement can be 

acquired by actual, hostile, open,.and notorious~ exclusive: and corttinNous possession:of the 

19 '/d.,.at 237; 

.21 
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,property for the statutory period ofJiifteenyears .. "20 On:ce those·•elements-are .met, the imurden 

shifts tQ the landowner_ to offer evidence, ·either direct or ·circumstantial,, that the daimanVs use 

was permissive otily::21 

For a:11 the-reasons :stated above· finding. Plaintiff}s'J:1.dverse possesS:i'on. -0f the Main House 

~garage~ thisiCourt finds.a -prescriptive easement .for the1,use· of.the chtiveway, and. gate to: access the 

The m.aterial .facts relied: upon: :by this court to d'etermine the outcome:il1erein are not 

c0ntrov:erted. The.real eontrovets:¾,as argued .by Defendants in the memorandums f6Jllowiag the· 

April o, 2020. order, is the, cotirt'-s characterization ·of those facts, and their:aHplication to-the law. 

That makes this .. mattet :appropri'ate,for summary judginent. .NH relevant parties nave been 

:depose.cl. The ,resohition·of'this. matter lies :withitheir testimony. -Itis not possible for Defendants.· 

to prevail from tb.e ifacts that exist 111 the rec◊rd-. 'Fhe only way they could. pre~ail ifs if Klingshirn . . 

wereto;change his,tes:tii:tnony-at trial. .If that possibility could predude summaryj.ucl;gm.eNt, there. 

would never :be:cause for a:court to -entertain·,the, motion.. 

Based upon theJrerein dis.eussion. and' the' court beii.tg:,_in. am ways advised, 

IT'IS-HEREBY ORDERED AlND ADJUDGED by the, court as follows: 

L ·:tvfolion.-of' Plaintiffs, Marc Tischbein and: Peggy Rankin,. for· S:wmmary Jadgement.om. 

their-adverse possession €!aim r~gareli~g. the Main House ,gar,a;ge.and prescripti-ve easementclaim 

.regarding .the entry gate ,and. driveway is SUSTAINED'. 

2. Tischbe.in. ana Rankin, :atothei.r' expen:se, 0shal!l have: a K:entucky Licensed 

·surveyor/engin.eer prepare a legal deseiiption of'the :adversely f?OSsessea property and. submit iit 

to the.co:urtand Defendants,tlie Bills,.an.dfor-their attomeyfor any.objection.s. Upon approval 

2D" Colilmbia·Gas 'frqnsmis:siom :Corp. v: ·Consol:of~entuoky, Inc,, .15 .S. W-.3d. 72•7•; 7-30 (Ky:2OO0): 
21 Me'lton v.:Gr.os.s:,.58O S::W.3a 5'1Q,(Ky:20!l9;). 

22 
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i.lbythe court, 'Tischbein and Rankin shall further, ·sttblllit tne description and a ,c0rrespo'ilding 

Identi':£icati0n plat toithe Ken.ton ·Cbuilty; and Municipal Planning- and Zoning;Gommission for 

approval. 

4. Tischbein an:d RariRin, at.their expense~ .shall secure a legal descri,ption •Of the 

1
1prescriptive easernentthtctugh the eEJtry gate ·and over the driveway for access to the Main House 

;garage ,and sU'.bmit it.to, the Defendants;theHills,. and/or their attomey for any objecti<ms before 

,submission to-the court forapprova:l. 

3. Defendants' ,Jiills~ Mf.ltkm to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Claims. for Wantiof Prosecutio1t 

Pursaanno OR 77.02 is OVERRULED.. 

4, Defendants', Hills, Motion Requesting that tJie Court:Rule :on All Pendm:g Motions, is 

OVERRULED as,now MOO!f. 

5. Defen,dants?, .Hills, Motion to Require Plaintiffs to Post Bond is: OVERRIILED as 

0. In Hghtof the ;granting; of Plaintiffs' Motion for Smmn:ary Judgm.ent:on their daim.s 

for. adverseposse·ssinn 1md:Jprescriwtive ,easement, Plaintiffs'· Motion to)Dismiss Defendants' 

Second Amended Counterclaim is :SUSTAINED and those claims areJJIS<MISSED .. 

Thei:e being, n.n·1ust cause for delay this is a fina:1 and ,appeala:ble,ordelr .. 

" . 

. . 1Cireuit J. 
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Original 
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OheCopy 
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Kenton Circuit Clerk 
Hon. Kent Seifried 
Hon. KeviR. Murphy 
Hon. Patrick \1/;alsh 
Hon. 'Ehomas A. Wieth:olter 
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COMMONWEAL TH OF KENTUCKY 
KENTON CIRCUIT COURT 

FIRST DIVISION 
CASE NO. 18-CI-1603 

KENTON C\RCU\1/0\STR\CT COURT 

APR O}lO~ 
JOHNJ}_;f £oQ~TO~_c. 

8 

MARC TISCHBEIN, ct. ~•I. PLAINTIFFS 

vs. 

SCOTT HILL, et. al. DEFENDANTSffHIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS 

vs. 

DAVID A. KLINGSHIRN, ct. al. THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANTS 

ORDER GRANTING 
PARTIAL SUMMARY .JUDGMENT 

Procedural Posture: 

This matter is before the court pursuant to the following: 

I. Motion of Ddcndants, Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill (the ·•Hills") for summary judgment 

tiled February 22- 2019. 

2. Motion of Plaintiffs, l'vlarc Tischbein and Peggy Rankin ("Tischbein and Rankin"), for 

partial summary judgment tiled March I. 20 I 9. 

3. Motion of Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, the Hills, to dismiss the counterclaim of 

Third-Pary Detendants, David A. Klingshirn, individually (''Klingshirn·'), and David A. 

Klingshirn, as Trnstee of the David A. Klingshirn Trust (the "Trustee") (Klingshirn and 

the Trustee collectively relerrecl to as the ·Third-Party Defendants"), tiled November 12, 

2019. 

4. Plaintifrs' motion to dismiss Third-Party Defendant, Klingshirn' s Cross-Claim filed 

November 19, 20 I 9. 

1 

C. Duggins
Alpha White Exhibit



Facts: 

This action involves a property dispute. Plaintiffs, Tischbein and Rankin, own 422 

Riverside Drive (technically 420-422 Riverside Drive), referred to herein as the Main House. 

Defendants, the Hills, own I 09 Shelby Street, referred to herein as the Coach House. They are 

adjoining properties. 

In 1986 Klingshirn purchased the Main House. He partnered with Tischbein in the 

purchase and renovation of the Main House. They lived together in the Main House through 

1993. Klingshirn paid hvo-thirds of the expenses during that period and Tischbein paid one­

third. 

On April 30, 1993. Klingshirn, Tischbein and Tischbein' s then-fiance, Rankin, jointly 

purchased the Coach House and Main House. In 1993-94 co-owners, Klingshirn, Tischbein and 

Rankin, remodeled and updated the Coach and Main Houses, and constructed two garages, a 

driveway, gate and walkways between them. At that time Tischbein and Rankin contributed 

additional funds to ··settle up" the difference in the amount Klingshirn had previously paid for 

the Main House over what Tischbein paid. Tischbein and Rankin then paid t\vo-thirds of the 

remodels and new construction. Klingshirn paid one-third. After the construction and remodels 

were complete, Klingshirn moved into the Coach House and Tischbein and Rankin resided in the 

Main House. 

As part of the Coach House remodel a new Coach House --front door" that faced 

Riverside Drive on the north side of the property was constructed, as well as a walkway from 

that front door to Riverside Drive. Klingshirn located his mailbox on that walkway and used 420 

Riverside Drive as his address. Technically. the Coach House address was 109 Shelby Street, 
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but it was important to Klingshirn to maintain the prestigious Riverside Drive address (when he 

lived with Tischbein in the Main House the address for the two units were 420 and 422 Riverside 

Drive.). The walk\vay was located on the Main House lot and ran along the west side of the Main 

House through its side yard. 

Originally, only one new garage was constructed on the property and it was for the Coach 

House. It had an exit directly into the Coach House basement. At1er the Coach House garage 

was built the parties explored building a Main House garage on the west side of the Main House 

in its side yard. They ran into some diniculties with that placement so Klingshirn, Tischbein and 

Rankin built it next to the Coach House garage between the two houses. The outside windows of 

the then existing Coach House garage were removed and the new Main House garage connected 

to the Coach House garage with a common wall. The driveway was constructed so as to service 

both garages. It also extended north toward the Main House to allow for additional Main House 

parking. The only access to the garages and driveway parking was through a shared gate. The 

electricity for the Main House garage was connected directly to the Main House. There was no 

way to access one garage from the other. The construction of the two garages, the driveway and 

the gate were paid two-thirds by Tischbein and Rankin, and one-third by Klingshirn. Klingshirn, 

Tischbein and Rankin agreed in their depositions that the Main House garage was built for use 

by the Main House occupant(s) and the Coach House garage was built for use by the Coach 

House occupant(s). 

From 1993 to 200 I, the three co-owned both properties and shared the common 

driveway, gate and paved vvalkways among the properties in a manner consistent with their 

verbal agreement at the time they designed and renovated the properties. They treated them as 

one property shared by the three of them. The Coach House and the Coach House garage were 
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used and paid for entirely by Klingshirn (exclusive of any morlgage payments), and the Main 

House and the Main House garage were used and paid for entirely by Tischbein and Rankin 

(exclusive of any mortgage payments until later in 1990's). The additional driveway parking was 

used by Tischbein and Rankin. 

From the beginning, the relationship between Tischbein and Klingshirn was one of 

complete trust and friendship. Tischbein paid one-third of the Main House mortgage(s) in the 

early years and was on at least one loan, yet he was not on the deed. Some of the financing was 

secured with Klingshirn's pharmacies. When Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin purchased the 

Coach House in 1993 and renovated the properties, no written agreement was executed between 

the three of them. The financial contributions, living arrangements and use of the properties 

were discussed and agreed to by all three. As the parties testified in their depositions, they were 

like family to each other. All financial contributions were made into an account named 

·'Tischbcin Properties'' and Klingshirn made the payments from that account. 

Rankin testified that sometime in the late l 990's she and Tischbein took over one 

hundred percent of the Main House mortgage payments to which Klingshirn had been 

contributing (it appears at the rate of 50%). There was no morlgage on the Coach House. In 

1998, Klingshirn deeded one-half interest of the Main House to Tischbein (then married to 

Rankin). Then, according to Klingshirn, in 2001 he felt growing concern that his pharmacies 

were leveraged by the Main House mortgage. Rankin testified that since she and Tischbein were 

making all the mortgage payments for the Main House, they ,vanted to refinance with a lower 

interest rale. So. in 2001 Rankin, Tischbein and Klingshirn decided that Tisehbein and Rankin 

would refinance the Main House mortgage in their names and the three of them would legally 

realign their ownership interests in the two properties. Tischbein and Rankin became the sole 
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owners of the l'vlain House, and Klingshirn became the sole owner of the Coach House. From 

what the court can discern, the Main House was then mortgaged in Tischbein and Rankin's 

names, and the Coach House was mortgage-free. 

The deeds depicted the boundaries of the two lots as they were before Klingshirn, 

Tischbein and Rankin purchased the Coach House. Most of the gate, driveway and Main House 

garage that were built aner the 1993 purchase were located within the Coach House property 

line. Most of the walkway from the Coach House door to Riverside Drive was located within the 

Main House property line. The driveway parking spots were located within the Main House 

property line, and the Coach House garage was located within the Coach House property line. 

Other paved walkways ran between the boundary lines of the two properties. From the 

deposition testimony of Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin, it appears that none of them gave a 

second thought to the property lines. After the 200 I property exchange, their living 

arrangements and use of the prope11ies continued for the next seventeen ( 17) years as they had 

for the previous eight (8) years. 

The Main House garage continued to be used and paid for exclusively by the Main House 

occupants, Tischbein and Rankin, and the Coach House garage continued to be used and paid for 

exclusively by the Coach House occupant. Klingshirn. They continued to share the driveway 

and gate. During this period, Tischbein and Rankin expended significant funds to replace the 

Main House garage door, install a new outside light, purchase garage door openers, paint the 

garage and install shelving. The electricity to the gate was assessed to the Coach House. After 

2012 Tischbein and Rankin took over all maintenance costs, including $2,290.00 for a new gate 

motor. They further paid over $8,000.00 to repair the driveway. All expenses and repairs related 

solely to the Coach House garage were paid exclusively by Klingshirn and all expenses related 

5 



solely to the Main House garage were paid exclusively by Tischbein and Rankin (there is some 

controversy concerning whether Klingshirn paid property taxes and insurance associated with the 

Main House garage). 

According to Klingshirn's deposition testimony, upon division of the property and during 

the entire seventeen ( 17) years follov.-'ing, there was never any discussion or commentary 

regarding the ownership or permissive use of the Main House garage, driveway, gate and 

walkways. Klingshirn did testify in his deposition that " I think [Marc] thought that he owned 

that garage because he parked there and there's ... you're using semantics on a word:·1 

Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin testified that there was an agreement in 1993-94, when 

they built the Main House garage, that it would be for the Main House. Klingshirn testified in 

his deposition that at the time of realignment of the properties in 2001, he assumed that 

Tischbein and Rankin '-Vould keep using the Main House garage and he, Klingshirn, would keep 

using the paved walkway from the Coach House north entrance through the Main House side 

yard and maintain his 420 Riverside Drive address. He further testified that atler they split the 

properties, they continued to treat them as one property and he assumed they would sell the 

properties together. Tischbcin and Rankin testified that they believed when they split the 

properties in 200 I, they got full ownership of the Main House garage. In fact, Rankin testified 

that when they discussed splitting the properties in 200 I , the three of them verbally agreed that 

she and Tischbein would continue to own the garage. 

At some point prior to Klingshirn ' s sale of the Coach House, Klingshirn expressed to 

Tischbcin an interest to sell. He wanted to sell the properties together to maximize the profit. If 

not sold together he had hoped that Tischbein and Rankin would buy the Coach House from him. 

Tisehbein and Rankin entertained selling the properties together. They had prospective buyers 

1 Klingshirn deposition, June 17, 2019, page 106. 
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view the Main House. They were disappointed that the value of the two properties together were 

assessed by a real estate professional below their expectations. They didn' t have any serious 

buyers express an interest to pay the amount they desired. 

Klingshirn blamed Rankin for the failure to sell the properties together. He was upset 

that Tischbein and Rankin did not offer to purchase the Coach House from him. In 2017 he 

decided to list the Coach House. He informed Tischbein of his decision. 

In light of the Klingshirn"s decision to sell, Tischbein and Klingshirn had discussions 

about getting easements before the Coach I-louse was sold. According to Tischbein he "just 

wanted to get clarity of a document that confirms our ownership."2 He said, '·all we know is that 

we were owners of that garage and access to that garage. "3 Klingshirn and Tischbein agreed that 

they needed a written document/easement so that after the Coach House was sold, the new Coach 

House owners could maintain the Riverside Drive address by using the walkway in the Main 

House side yard, and Tischbein and Rankin could continue to use the gate and driveway to 

access the Main House garage and the parking spaces that laid within the Main House property 

line. 

On the original MLS listing of the Coach House property, based upon the property plat 

maps filed of record, two garages were listed. Sometime in 2017, Klingshirn' s realtor, Michael 

Hinckley (''Hinckley'·), had brochures made to market the Coach House. The brochures listed 

the property as having two garages. Tischbein and Rankin were upset vvhen they saw the 

brochures and told Klingshirn he needed to change them to rellect that the Coach House had only 

one garage. Klingshirn agreed and had Hinckley redo the brochures. The MLS listing was also 

changed to reflect that the property had only one garage. Klingshirn did an interview with a 

2 Tischbein deposition, page 85. 
3 Tischbein deposition, page 86. 
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reporter who was v\Titing an article for the Enquirer about the new unique property going on the 

market. The published article described the property as having one garage. The reporter 

executed an affidavit stating that Klingshirn told him the property had one garage. 

On October 23, 2017, Klingshirn executed a Seller' s Disclosure of Property Condition. 

In it Klingshirn acknowledged that he did not know the property boundaries, and that he was not 

aware of any encroachments or unrecorded easements related to the property. He further 

disclosed that there were features of the property shared in common with adjoining landowners 

without explanation. 

Hinckley discussed with potential buyers that most of the neighbors' garage was on the 

Coach House property without an easement. He also discussed that the walkway from the Coach 

House door leading to Riverside Drive was on the Main House property without an easement. 

At least one potential buyer expressed an interest in getting easements for both before making an 

offer to purchase. In the end, no offer was made by that potential buyer. 

On f ebruary 16, 2018, L01i-ie Hill went through the Coach House with her realtor, 

Sharon Hilinski ("l-lilinski"). She emailed Hilinski afterward that she was surprised that it was 

listed as a two-car garage when it seemed the garage was only one space. She had seen the 

original MLS listing stating the property had two garages. She questioned whether the Main 

House garage was owned by the Main House or if there was an easement. Hilinsky responded to 

Lorrie stating that Hinkley told her the neighbor' s garage is on Klingshirn' s property, and that 

there is no easement, just a --gentlemen' s agreement." Hinkley told Klingshirn to put the 

arrangement in in writing in legal terms and Klingshirn said he would when he found a buyer. 

Klingshirn reached out to a city official on March 26, 20 l 8 via email stating, ·'I need 

direction and advice to have a document [regarding] easement for 422 Riverside Drive [and] I 09 
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Shelby. We share a common drive and walkway;"4 Klingshirn was not happy that he might 

have to pay a professional to obtain the easements. Tischbein testified that he assumed 

Klingshirn was handling the matter. Rankin testified that she assumed Tischbein and Klingshirn 

were handling the matter. Klingshirn testified that he looked into it but chose not to follow 

through because he thought Tischbein and Rankin should have to pay for it since they earned 

more money than him. He admitted he was ··perturbed'" with Tischbein and Rankin for not 

offering to pay for it. 

On March 17, 20 I 8, the Hills made an offer to purchase the Coach House for 

$575,000.00. The asking price was $725,000.00. The Hills expressed that the rationale for the 

low offer included the fact that there was actually one garage, not two. They had Hilinski 

convey that rationale to Klingshirn. 

On March 19, 2018, the Hills signed the Seller' s Disclosure of Property Condition. 

Klingshirn countered the Hills' ofter for $625,000.00. The Counter-Offer stated that as 

an integral part of the contract, ··[t ]he adjoining property ( 422 Riverside Dr.) garage is partially 

on the subject property." On March 23, 2018, the Hills executed the Contract to Purchase for 

$625,000.00. Both Lorrie and Scott Hill testified that at that point in time, ownership of the 

Main House garage was questionable in their minds. They were, however, aware of the past and 

ongoing Main House garage usage by Tischbein and Rankin. 

The Coach House was then appraised for $650,000.00 based upon one one-car garage. 

Prior to the June 4. 2018 closing. the Hills had the property surveyed. The May 31 , 2018 survey 

report revealed that most or the Main House garage was located on the Coach House property. 

In an email to Hilinski on June 3, 2018, Lorrie Hill said she was pleasantly surprised that the 

survey revealed that most of the Main House garage was on the Coach House property. She 

4 Defense exhibit 8. 
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wanted assurance that no new easements or agreements had been filed regarding the Coach 

I-louse property since they signed the Contract to Purchase. Klingshirn and the Hills closed on 

the sale on June 4, 20 I 8. 

On June 29, 2018, the Hills initiated a meeting with Tischbein and Rankin in an attempt 

to execute a written license agreement for the use of the walkway to Riverside Drive, the gate, 

the driveway and the Main House garage. There was disagreement between them. 

In July of 2018 the Hills, and Tischbein and Rankin, hired attorneys who conveyed to 

each other their positions regarding the property dispute. The Hills physically blocked Tischbein 

and Rankin from using the garage, gate and driveway. 

Some time at the end of August, 2018, Klingshirn met with the Hills at Notre Dame 

Academy (''NOA") in Park Hills, Kentucky. The Hills' daughter was to attend NOA and 

Klingshirn wanted to introduce the Hills to the Notre Dame sisters. During their time at NOA, 

Klingshirn and the Hills discussed the property situation between the Hills and Tischbein and 

Rankin. Apparently, Lorrie Hill, unbeknownst to Klingshirn, recorded the conversation between 

Klingshirn, Scott Hill and herself. 

The recording is not in the record but is referenced and quoted by Tischbein and Rankin's 

attorney during Klingshinf s deposition. Supposedly, during that conversation, Lorrie Hill told 

Klingshirn that if he did not say that he gave permission to Tischbein to use that garage, then 

Tischbein would own it and the Hills' attorneys would sue Klingshirn. She went on to say that 

there was no need for that because Klingshirn just needed a statement saying he gave Tischbein 

and Rankin permission. She said that if Klingshirn would sign a paper, it would put a stop to the 
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law·suit. Scott Hill told Klingshirn that LoJTie could type up an affidavit and send it on to 

Klingshirn·s attorney. Klingshirn responded ··here's the deal, whatever, you write it up.' '5 

On August 27.2018, Klingshirn executed an affidavit stating that he specifically allowed 

and permitted Tischbein and Rankin to use the Main House garage and that Tischbein and 

Rankin paid no expenses relating to its use except for a periodic service call on the electric gate 

and driveway maintenance. The document evidence contradicts this. He further attested that 

Tischbein and Rankin knew or should have known that use of the Main House garage was 

allmved by Klingshirn as an ongoing gesture of goodwill and friendship and nothing more. He 

never stated that he expressly gave them permission. 

This action was filed on August 31 , 2018 by Tischbein and Rankin. 

On May 2, 2019. Klingshirn executed another affidavit incorporating the previous 

allidavit. In this affidavit he asserted that he expressly permitted Tischbein and Rankin to use 

the gate, driveway and Main House garage after ownership of the two properties were realigned. 

I-le further stated that he inquired about an easement for the Main House garage but nothing 

came of it. He stated that he has always maintained that he owned the Main House garage, and 

between the time he accepted the Hills' ofter on the Coach House and the time they closed on the 

sale, he informed the Hills that he allowed Tischbein and Rankin to use it pursuant to a 

··gentlemen· s agreement.·· 

Klingshirn was deposed on June 17. 20 I 9 and July 2, 2019. In his depositions he 

acknowledged that he never gave verbal permission to Tischbein and Rankin to use the Main 

!louse garage. He testified that the subject of the Main House garage ownership was never 

discussed amongst them. The verbal gentlcmen·s agreement was actually discussed and initiated 

55 Klingshirn June 17, 2019 deposition, page 147. 
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in J 993-94 when the three of them owned the two properties together and designed the 

renovations l'<.x their combined usage of them as one properly. 

Findings and Conclusions: 

Summary J udement 

The standard for summary judgment requires the court to view the record in the light 

most favorable to the non-movant; and for the movant to show the non-existence of any issue of 

material fact and make that showing with such clarity that there is no room left for controversy. 

CR 56.03. The failure of the non-moving party to present evidence in contradiction to the 

evidence in support of the motion for summary judgment docs not in itself justify a granting of 

the motion; however. the party opposing ..... a properly supported summary judgment motion'" 

cannot defeat such a motion without presenting ··at least some aflirmative evidence showing that 

there is a genuine issue of material fact for trial:· See Steel vest, Inc. v. Scansteel Service Center. 

Inc .. 807 S.W.2d 475 ( 1991 ). The inquiry is whether, from the evidence in the record, facts exist 

which would make it possible for the non-moving party to prevail. 

Adverse Possession 

In order to establish title through adverse possession all of the following must be met at 

all time throughout a litiecn-year statutory period: 

( 1) Possession must be hostile and under a claim of 
right; (2) it must be actual: (3) it must be open and notorious; 
(4) it must be exclusive, and (5) it must be continuous.6 

The minimum ti lkcn-year period of time at issue here begins in 200 I. 

6 Tartar v. Tucker, 280 S.W .. 2d 150, 152 (Ky.1955). 
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Starling with the fifth requirement and moving backward, the deposition and affidavit 

testimony of Klingshirn. Tischbein and Rankin is undisputed. During the period of 200 I through 

2017 only Tischbein and Rankin used the Main House garage. The use was continuous. 

The fourth requirement. that possession be exclusive is also undisputed. The Main House 

garage could not be accessed from the Coach I-louse garage. Klingshirn never used or even 

attempted to use the Main House garage. Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin all testified that the 

Main I louse garage was used exclusively by Tischbein and Rankin for the entire time. 

Klingshirn admitted that he always thought of it as ·'Marc's garage'· or " Marc's mancave." 

In order to satisfy the third element, that possession be open and notorious, possession 

must be conspicuous and not secret, so that the legal title holder has notice of the adverse usc.7 

After 200 I. Klingshirn was the title holder of most of the property upon which the Main House 

garage was built. Klingshirn was aware that Tischbein and Rankin exercised control over the 

Main House garage in a manner that would appear to the world that they owned it. 

Not only did Tischbein openly used the Main House garage, all maintenance for it was 

paid for by Tischbein and Rankin. A new garage door was chosen and paid for by Tischbein and 

Rankin, as well as new openers, outside lighting and painting. Tischbein and Rankin had storage 

shelves constructed in that garage. Klingshirn was aware of all of this. By their use and action 

Tischbein and Rankin showed that they intended to possess the Main House garage to the 

exclusion or all others. Tischbein and Rankin testified that they believed they owned the garage 

after the properly was realigned. They believed that the Main House garage went with the Main 

!louse. Klingshirn. Tischbein and Rankin testified that they believed that when they built the 

Main House garage in 1993-94, it was built and intended for that purpose. 

7 Appalachian Regional Healthcare, Inc. v. Royal Crown Bottling Co., 824 S.W.2d 878,880 (Ky.1992), citing Sweeten 
v. Sartin, 256 S.W.2d 524, 526 (Ky.1953). 
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Plaintiffs argue that Klingshirn paid additional real estate tax and insurance because of 

his ownership of the garages. That claim is questionable. but that alone would not destroy 

Tischein's and Rankin's claim of adverse possession. 

The second requirement is that Tischbein and Rankin actually possessed the Main House 

garage. The testimony on this point is not in dispute. The uncontroverted testimony reflects that 

Tischbein cleaned his car in the driveway almost every day and parked it in the garage every 

night. The testimony further shows that Tischbein spent a lot of time in his garage and stored his 

and Rankin' s personal property in there. According to Klingshirn, Tischbein hung out in that 

garage all the time with his dog and his radio. 

The first requirement, that possession be hostile and under a claim of right is where the 

Hills contend that Tischbein and Rankin ·s adverse possession claim fails. 

··Jn order to make an adverse claim definite, the adverse possessor must have either some 

color of title that will show the extent of the claim or there must be a definite boundary."8 If 

someone is in actual adverse possession of property without color of title, he must have well­

defined boundaries of his possession.9 

The only color of title that Tischbein and Rankin have is that a portion of the north wall 

(closest to the Main House) is located within the Main House property line. Otherwise. the 

boundary or the Main House garage v.-'hich Tischbein and Rankin are asserting ownership oC is 

obviously well-marked and adjacent to the Main House. It is separated from the Coach House 

garage by a wall. It is inaccessible from the Coach House garage. It adjoins and is partially on 

the Main House property. The electricity line to the Main House garage connects to the Main 

House. Tischbein and Rankin have clearly defined their claim of right. 

8 Appalachian Regional Healthcare, at 880, citing Coulton v. Simpson, 96 S.W.2d 856 (Ky.1936). 
9 Shepherd v. Morgan, 246 S.W.2d 131 (Ky.1951). 
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In order for possession to be adverse, a possessor must ··openly evince a purpose to hold 

dominion over the property with such hostility that will give the non-possessory owner notice of 

the adverse claim." !(' ·TfJhe character of the property, its physical nature and the use to which it 

has been put, determines the character of acts necessary to put the true owner on notice that a 

hostile claim is being asserted.'' 11 These factual assertions of hostility by Tischbein and Rankin 

are discussed in this opinion analyzing the third element of an adverse claim, that possession be 

open and notorious. Tischbein and Rankin used the Main House garage in a manner consistent 

with the size and character of the property and its intended purpose upon construction by them 

and Klingshirn. In full sight of Klingshirn, they treated it as their property, with all the benefit 

and responsibility that accompanies ownership. Klingshirn testified that Tischbein thought he 

owned it. 

When an occupant obtains possession ofland under the mistaken belief that the property 

is his, and he conveys no intention of surrendering the disputed property, he is, in fact, holding 

the property aclvcrsely 12
• Furthermore, physical improvement to the property demonstrates the 

possessor's intent to adversely hold the property. 13 

Klingshirn maintains that Tischbein and Rankin's possession of the property was 

permissive rather than hostile. This is the real crux of this controversy. Where an owner of 

property has granted someone permission to use [that] property, a claim of adverse possession 

cannot be deemed hostile. 1
-1 --[P Jossession by permission cannot ripen into title no matter how 

long it continucs.'" 15 

10 Appalachian Regional Healthcare, at 880. 
11 Ely v. Fuson, 180 S.W.2d 90 (Ky.App.1944). 
12 Tartar, at 153. 
13 Appalachian Regional Healthcare, at 880. 
14 United Hebrew Congregation of Newport v. Bolser, 50 S.W.2d 45 (Ky.1932). 
15 Phillips v. Akers, 103 S.W.3d 705, 708 {Ky.App.2002). 
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Klingshirn asserts that Tischbcin and Rankin's permitted use of the Main House garage 

was pursuant to a ··gentlemen' s agreement" but he admits that this verbal agreement was entered 

into in 1993-94 when Klingshirn. Tischbein and Rankin owned the property together and built 

the Main House garage. According to Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin, the agreement 

encompassed building the Coach House garage for use by the Coach House occupant, building a 

Main House garage for use by the Main House occupant, building a walkway from a newly 

constructed Coach House front door to Riverside Drive for usage by the Coach House occupant 

to retain the Riverside Drive address, and building a gate, driveway and other walkways for the 

shared use by the occupants of both houses. Klingshirn testified that this "gentlemen's 

agreement"" was never discussed between himself and Tischbein and/or Rankin any time after the 

design and construction of the property renovations which included the construction of the Main 

House garage. He simply stated that the permissive nature of Tischbein and Rankin's use of the 

Main House garage after the property realignment was assumed. Tischbein and Rankin testified 

that they believed they owned it, and openly behaved consistent with that belief. 

Furthermore, rather than discuss his ownership of the Main House garage and 

Tischbein's use thereof as permissive after the property split, Klingshirn openly treated it as 

Tischbein's garage and was aware of and expected Tischbein and Rankin's incurrence of 

expenses to upgrade and maintain it. When asked in deposition if he paid for any of the 

maintenance, upkeep or improvement of the Main House garage, he answered that there would 

have been no reason for him to do so. 

Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin had an unusual relationship over the thirty years or so. 

They did not routinely reduce to writing their business dealings amongst themselves. For 

example, Klingshirn and Tischbein bought the Main House together with Tischbein initially 
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paying one-third of the mortgage payments. He was on at least one loan agreement with 

Klingshirn. AJler approximately seven years Tischbein evened up his investment in the Main 

House with Klingshirn·s. Still, it \-vasn·t until 1998, that Tischbein was put on the deed with 

Klingshirn as a co-owner. Large sums were spent on the purchase of the Coach House and the 

improvements of the tv.ro properties in 1993-94, yet nothing was put into writing specifying the 

percentage of ownership or expense obligations of Klingshirn. Tischbein and Rankin. 

The deeds to the Coach House and the Main House were never combined to reflect one 

property, but they all treated it as one. Klingshirn testified that he considered it one property. 

When they split the property they simply conveyed the original deeds to each other. The failure 

to specify in the deeds that the Main House garage was part of the Main House property would 

appear typical of the manner in which Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin did business together. 

Tischbein and Rankin testified that they believed that they got exclusive ownership of the 

Main House garage upon realignment of the properties in 2001. Rankin testified that in 2001, 

when the properties were conveyed to each other, they had a verbal agreement that she and 

Tischbcin would retain exclusive ownership of the Main House garage. 

In every way Tischbein and Rankin openly treated the Main House garage as their 

property. When Klingshirn put the Coach House on the market and the realtor printed flyers 

showing the property had two garages, Tischbein and Rankin immediately objected by 

expressing that the Coach House had only one garage. Klingshirn agreed and acted consistent 

with that belief by changing the sales literature. 

When Tischbein and Rankin refused to purchase the Coach House from Klingshirn, and 

pulled out of selling the !\VO properties together, Klingshirn admitted he was hurt and upset. It 

wasn' t until he had potential buyers show interest that he expressly claimed ownership. That 
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expression, however, was to the potential buyers, not Tischbein and Rankin, and it was seventeen 

years atter he obtained exclusive ownership of the Coach House. 

Even if Tischbein and Rankin exercised ownership of the garage knowing the title was 

with Klingshirn the hostility element of adverse possession is not destroyed. The fact that 

Klingshirn did not object to Tischbein and Rankin's continued use of the garage after the deeds 

were executed does not constitute permission. '"The owner's mere knowledge of the possession 

[by a third partyl ... [docs] not destroy hostility." 16 

Without some act by Klingshirn conveying his assent to Tischbein and Rankins's overtly 

hostile claim of ownership of his property, permission cannot be implied. 

Klingshirn testified that he assumed either the two properties would be sold together, or 

that Tischbein and Rankin would buy the Coach House from him when he was ready. so there 

was no need to discuss who owned the Main House garage. Klingshirn' s internal thought 

process, however, is not equivalent to a granting or expression of pennission. 

Finally, the Hills argue that because Tischbein and Rankin were part O\vners of the Coach 

House when it was deeded to Klingshirn. the long established rule that a vendor of land that 

remains in possession of the land after the conveyance is deemed lo hold under the vendee, not 

against the vcndec applies. The Hills rely on Dishman v. Marsh 17
• In Dishman, the property in 

question was land adjoining a home that had been in the grantor's family tor many years. Mrs. 

Dishman conveyed the property to her son-in-lmv in 1911 in return for their care of her in her 

later years. rive years later, though, her daughter and son-in-law left town. The son-in-law 

continued to pay property tax on the property in his name. The property was eventually 

purchased to satisfy his tax debt. 

16 Herringer v. Brewster, 357 S.W.3d 920, 930 (Ky.App.2012), citing 3 Robert W. Keats, et. al., Kentucky Practice: 
Methods of Practice ~5.3 {3d ed. 1989). 
17 128 S.W.2d 235 {Ky.App.1939). 
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The court found that there was no change of the character of Mrs. Dishman' s possession 

for the twenty years after her son-in-law left town, so there is a presumption that her possession 

was peaceable. That presumption could only be challenged by a showing of her open, notorious, 

continuous and adverse possession. 18 The court found that there was no such showing. The 

court further found and considered that an innocent buyer was involved. 

That brings us right back to where we stm1ed. There is a presumption that the title holder 

retains ownership or property unless the elements of adverse possession have been proven by 

clear and convincing evidence. 

In this case, the s ituation is a little more complicated because Klingshirn is also the 

grantor of the Main House garage. He, along with Tischbein and Rankin, conveyed legal title to 

himself 

Furthermore. the Hills were not innocent buyers. They purchased the prope11y knowing 

that Tischbein and Rankin's right to the Main House garage was questionable. The com1 is not 

convinced that simply because Tischbein and Rankin did not move out of the garage, then move 

back in after the 2001 conveyance, they are barred from asserting an adverse possession claim 

under the vendor/vendee rule. 

The court has gone to great length to closely read and consider the extensive record, 

including each deposition. All the relevant parties to this claim have been deposed. The record 

is replete with supporting documentation. The court believes that Tischbein and Rankin have a 

significant probability of success on their adverse possession claim, and therefore, will not grant 

summary judgment to the Hills on that claim. 

Easement 

18 Id., at 237. 
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Since Defendants' motion for summary judgment must fail on the adverse possession 

claim it certainly must fail on the easement claim. Many of the elements required to establish 

adverse possession are also required to establish an easement claim. Since the record is 

supportive of the adverse possession claim, Defendants could not possibly meet the burden of 

summary judgment on the easement claim. 

The court will refrain from delving into the elements of prescriptive and quasi easements 

as Plaintiffs have not sought summary judgment on their easement claim. 

Irrevocable License 

Without abandoning their adverse possession and easement claims, Plaintiffs assert that 

they have, at a minimum, an irrevocable license to use the gate, driveway and Main House 

garage. They rely on PSI' North. LLC v. Allyhoys, LLC.:19 in support of this claim. 

The PSP North. LLC case involved a ramp built on two adjoining properties in 

Covington, Kentucky. One lot was owned by The Point/ARC of Northern Kentucky, Inc. ("The 

Point"), an agency servicing developmentally and physically disable individuals. The adjoining 

lot was owned by Kenton County. 

In 1991 Kenton County Fiscal Court built a ramp on over half of Kenton County's 

property and the rest over and affixed to The Point's property to assist The Point's clients in 

entering and leaving its building. It was funded in part by a Fiscal Court grant of $3,500 and in 

part by donations of $20,000 secured by The Point. 

In 1999 The Point sold its prope11y to Attyboys, LLC ("Attyboys"). Kenton County 

allowed Attyboys to continue using the ramp. Eventually, Kenton County sold its property to 

19 391 S.W.3d 396 (Ky.App.2013). 
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PSP North, LLC (""PSP'l Once in possession of the property, PSP demanded rent from 

Attyboys for use of the ramp. 

The court found that, as a matter of law, the license granted by Kenton County to The 

Point was irrevocable. It further held that a successor-in-interest who has notice of an 

irrevocable license prior to purchasing the property was barred by equitable principles from 

revoking the license. 

Applying this holding to the case at bar, the court must first make a determination as to 

whether a license to use the gate. driveway and Main House garage located on the Coach House 

property was granted by Klingshirn to Tischbein and Rankin and whether that license was 

irrevocable. 

This court finds that, at a minimum, Tischbein and Rankin had a license from Klingshirn 

to use them. 1 f their use is determined to be permissive, as argued by The Hills and Klingshirn, it 

would amount to a license based upon Klingshirn's ovvn testimony. 

A license becomes irrevocable when --with the knowledge of the owner, the licensee 

makes valuable improvements in reliance upon the continued existence of the license.''20 This 

bas been clearly established in this case. With Klingshirn's knowledge Tischbein and Rankin 

spent substantial funds on the Main House garage, the driveway and the gate. Those facts are 

well documented in the record. 

In I'S!' North. LLC, the court noted that the ramp was intended to be a permanent fixture 

and that PSP purchased the real estate with full knowledge and notice of its encroachment. For 

these reasons the irrevocable license passed to PSP, the successor-in-interest. 

i o PSP North, LLC, at 398; citing Bob's Ready to Wear, Inc. v. Weaver, 569 S.W.2d 715, 720 {Ky.App.1978 (citing 
Hoo/brook v. Taylor, 532 S.W.2d 763 (Ky.1976). 
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Here, the undisputed testimony is that Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin believed that 

their 1993-94 arrangement would be permanent. They all testified that was their intention when 

they built the Main House garage, the driveway and the gate. They all testified that when the 

properties split, they understood that the arrangement would continue indefinitely. Tischbein 

and Rankin relied upon that when they expended considerable funds upgrading, repairing and 

maintaining the garage and when Tischbein and Rankin took over all expenses related to the 

upgrading, repairing and maintaining or the gate and driveway. 

Klingshirn's intention is evidenced by the addendum in the Contract for Sale with the 

Hills stating that the 422 Riverside garage encroached upon the Coach House property, by his 

inquiry to obtain easements, and by selling the Coach House to the Hills under advisement of the 

"gentlemen's agreement'·. 

The Hills acknowledged that they were aware of the past and ongoing arrangement 

concerning the Main House garage, the gate and the driveway prior to purchasing the Coach 

House. They used that knmvledge to negotiate a lower sale price. Weeks after taking possession 

of the Coach I louse they even attempted to memorialize it in a written licensing agreement. 

It is this court's opinion that. as a matter of law, Tischbein and Rankin have. at a 

minimum, an irrevocable license of which the Hills are barred from revoking by equitable 

principles. In finding this. however. the court is not precluding Tischbein and Rankin from 

continuing to pursue their adverse possession and easement claims. 

Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim 
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The Hills filed a Third-Party Complaint against Klingshirn for breach of general warranty 

deed and fraudulent inducement. Klingshirn. in turn, filed a counterclaim for malicious 

prosecution and abuse of process. The Hills moved to dismiss Klingshim's counterclaim. 

A very strict standard governs a motion to dismiss. Such motions should be granted only 

where "it appears the pleading party would not be entitled to relief under any set of facts which 

could be proved in support of his claim."21 

With regard to the malicious prosecution claim, this court agrees with the Hills that the 

Third-Party Complaint must terminate in Klingshirn's favor before he can file a claim for 

malicious prosecution. 

One of the six elements necessary to establish a malicious prosecution claim is that ''the 

proceeding ... terminated in favor of the person against whom it was brought •·.22 Until then the 

claim is not ripe and this court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. 

Regarding the abuse of process claim, its essential elements are "( 1) an ulterior purpose 

and (2) a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular conduct of the 

procceding."23 Paragraph nine of Klingshirn's Counterclaim asserts that this action was filed in 

an attempt to renegotiate downward the purchase price the Hills paid for the Coach House, and 

to compel Klingshirn to contribute to the Hills' litigation costs. 

CR 8.01 (I) requires only that the facts or conclusions set out in the complaint are 

sunicient to identify the basis or a claim.24 "The test is whether the pleading sets forth any set of 

facts which - if proven- would entitle the party to relief. If so, the pleading is sufficient to state a 

21 Pari-Mutual Clerks' Union v. Kentucky Jockey Club, 551 S.W.2d 801 (Ky.1977). 
22 Martin v. O'Daniel, 507 S.W.3d 1, 12 (Ky.2016). 
23 Simpson v. Laytart, 962 S.W.2d 392, 394 (Ky.1998). 
24 Grand Aerie Fraternal Order of Eagles v. Carneyhan, 169 S.W.3d 840 (Ky.2005). 
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claim."25 For purposes of a motion to dismiss, the facts as pleaded in the complaint are treated as 

true and construed in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff 26 

This court finds that the abuse of process claim was sufficiently pied in Klingshirn's 

Counterclaim to defeat a motion to dismiss. 

Motion to Dismiss Cross-Claim 

Klingshirn filed a Cross-Claim against Tischbein and Rankin for Slander of Title on 

October 29, 2019. Tischbein and Rankin have moved to dismiss this claim. 

Paragraph (\VO of the Cross-Claim states·' [ p]ursuant to a purchase contract dated March 

24, 2018, Third-Party Defendants, Klingshirn, sold the property at I 09 Shelby Street, including a 

garage(s) located thereon, to the Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, the Hills, for $625.000.00. 

J\t closing, the Third-Party Defendants, Klingshirn, executed a deed in favor of the 

Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, the Hills, with covenants of general warranty." 

Klingshirn plead in paragraph live of his Cross-Claim that '"[a)s a result of Plaintiffs, 

Tischbcin's. knowing, malicious and false statement, the Third-Party Defendants, Klingshirn, 

have incurred special damages, including attorney's fees and other costs and expenses connected 

to the defense of this action, as well as mental and emotional distress." 

Klingshirn closed on the Coach House sale on June 4, 2018. This action for adverse 

possession was filed by Plaintiffs, Tischbein and Rankin, on August 3 I, 20 I 8. 

In order to maintain a slander of title action in this 
jurisdiction, the plaintiff must plead and prove that 
defendant has knowingly and maliciously communicated, 
orally or in writing, a false statement which has the 
effect of disparaging the plaintiff's title to property; 
he must also plead and prove that he has incurred 

25 Mitchell v. Coldstream Laboratories, Inc., 337 S.W.3d 642 (Ky.App.2010). 
16 Gall v. Scroggy, 725 S.W.2d 867 (Ky.App.1987); Edmondson County v. French, 394 S.W.3d 410 (Ky.App.2013). 
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special damage as a result.27 

The court in Bonnie Braes Farms went on to say that " [t]he special damage required may consist 

of either a loss by the plaintiff of a sale of his property or a diminution in its fair market value."28 

In this case, Klingshirn makes no claim that he lost a sale or that the sale price was 

diminished because of any spoken or written statements by Tischbein and/or Rankin. 

Klingshirn argues that Bonnie Braes Farms should be read that the special damages can 

include loss by the plaintiff of a sale of his property or a diminution in its fair market value but 

are not limited to them. This court disagrees. 

In Continen/a/ Realty Co. the court found that no special damage was alleged because the 

complaint did not charge that the market value of the property was either impaired or lessened, 

or that plaintiff was prevented from selling it. An allegation of special damages in the complaint 

is essential to a slander of title claim. 

In Keith v. l.a11rel County Fiscal Court. 29 (overruled on other grounds), reasoned that 

plaintiff's claim therein failed because a slander of title claim requires proof of special damages 

and plaintiff failed to plead '•either a loss of a sale of his property or a diminution in its fair 

market valuc:'30 

Fu11hermore, Klingshirn makes no allegation that Tischbein and Rankin made 

disparaging remarks or written statements while he o,vned the property 

The Kei1h case also held that plaintiff's case failed because .. the falsehood allegedly 

uttered by [defendant] did not involve property owned by [plaintiffj.31 Also, in Stahl v. St. 

'
7 Bonnie Braes Farms, Inc. v. Robinson, 598 S.W.2d 765, 766 (Ky.App.1980) citing Ideal Savings Loan & Building 

Ass'n v. Blumberg, 175 S.W.2d 1015 (Ky.1943); Hardin Oil Co. v. Spencer, 266 S.W. 654 (Ky.App.1924). 
28 Id., citing Continental Realty Co. v. little, 117 S.W. 310 (Ky.App.1909). 
n 254 S.W.3d 842 {Ky.App.2008). 
30 Id., at 846. 
31 /d. 
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Elizabeth Medical Cenler3!involving a slander of title claim, the court noted that " [plaintiff] does 

not, and did not at the time of the filing of the !is pendcns, have title to the property. This fact 

alone should preclude any finding of a cause of action as title to the property is a necessary 

element of the tort.' '33 for these reasons Klingshirn' s slander of title must fail. 

Based upon the herein discussion and the court being in all ways advised, 

IT JS HEREBY ORDERED AND ADJUDGED by the court as follows: 

1. Motion of Defendants, Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill. for summary judgment is 

OVERRULED. 

2. Motion of Plaintiffs, Marc Tischbein and Peggy Rankin, for partial summary 

judgment is SUSTAINED. Marc Tischbein and Peggy Rankin shall have immediate 

possession of the Main I-louse garage in the same condition as it was when they 

relinquished possession, as well as unobstructed access to it through the gate and 

driveway in the same manner. 

3. Motion of Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, Scott Hill and Lorrie Hill, to dismiss the 

counterclaim of Third-Party Defendants, David A. Klingshirn, individually, and 

David A. Klingshirn, as Trustee of the David A. Klingshirn Trust is SUSTAINED IN 

PART and OVERRULED IN PART as follows: 

(a) The motion to dismiss is SUSTAINED as to the malicious prosecution claim and 

it is hereby DISMISSED. 

(b) The motion to dismiss is OVERRULED as to abuse of process claim. 

32 948 S.W.2d 419 (Ky.App.1997). 
33 Id., at 424. 
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4. Motion of Plaintiffs. Marc Tischbein and Peggy Rankin, to dismiss Third-Party 

Defendant, Klingshirn's Cross-Claim is SUSTAINED and the slander of title claim is 

hereby DISMISSED. 

Done this u__ ~y of __ ~=--==#-'""--------------' 2020. 

Distribution: 
Original 
One Copy 
One Copy 
One Copy 
One Copy 

Kenton Circuit Clerk 
Hon. Kent Seifried 
I-Ion. Kevin Murphy 
Hon. Patrick Walsh 

Kenton Circuit Judge 

Hon. Thomas A. Wietholter 
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CO 
I 
ONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY 

MARC THISCHBEIN, ct.al. 

vs. 

NTON CIRCIDT COURT 
FIRST DIVISION 

CASE NO. 18-CI-1603 

FILED 
KENTON CIRCUIT/DISTRICT COURT 

MAY 1 8 2020 
JOHN C. MIOD J 

BY D.C. 

PLAINTIFFS 

SCOTT HILL, et. al. 

Vs. 

DEFENDANTS/I'HIRD-P ARTY PLAINTIFFS 

DAVID A. KLINGSHIRN, et. al THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANTS 

ORDER 

This matter is before the co pursuant to Defendantsffhird-Party Plaintiffs, Scott and 

Lorrie Hill's ("the Hills"), motion o vacate filed April 16, 2020. Plaintiffs responded on April 

27, 2020, and the Hills filed a Rep yon May 1, 2020. 

I 
As a basis to vacate this court's order entered April 6, 2020, the Hills maintain that the 

court prematurely rendered its decision on Plaintiffs' March 1, 2019 Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment because on August 15, ~019 an Agreed Scheduling Order was entered by the court. 

That agreed order included that "[ ]11 amendments and supplements and substitution to pending 

motions and related pleadings sh l be filed with the Court by April 16, 2020." 

This court does not permi the filing of sur-replies to pending motions without its 

permission. This Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was fully briefed by May 24, 2019. 

The record was complete for ru1l on this motion. All .relevant depositions, affidavits arid 

exhibits were considered by the c I urt in rendering its April 6, 2020 decision. 

Next, the Hills complain tr t the court relied on facts not supported by the record. On 

this issue, the court will acknowledge that on page two, paragraph three, first sentence of its 

1 

C. Duggins
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Order Granting Partial Summary Juclgment, the words "and Main House" are incorrect. The 

court inadvertently failed to remov1 them prior to entering the ord~r. In fact, it was just the 

Coach House that Klingshirn, Tischbein and Rankin purchased on April 30, 1993. The 

remainder of the Order make that c lear. This factual misstatement h~d no bearing on the 

outcome of the motion. 

Regarding the remainder of he Hills' issue with facts relied upon by the court, this court 

finds their concerns baseless. Desp'te the fact that unresponsive answers were given in the 

depositions at times, the court relie upon the relevant answers that directly related and 

responded to the questions asked. lhere an affidavit was specifically contradicted in later 

l 
deposition testimony, the court relied upon the responsive, relevant deposition testimony. 

The court further relied on le parties' testimony and supporting documents to paint a 

picture of the relationship that dev, loped between the parties and the property in issue over a 

thirty (30) year+ period. Defendants call into question such things as the court's 

characterization of an area which el tended from the driveway onto the Main House property that 

Rankin used for additional parking as "additional parking" instead of a "walkway," and the 

Klingshirn /Tischbein split of cost as "two-thirds to one-third" instead of "65/35," or the 

characterization by the court of an entrance as a "front door." Such characterization 

disagreements do not create genuiJe issues of material fact for trial; nor does the court stating 

I 
that a deponent testified to a certai fact or that the court is drawing certain conclusions from the 

aggregate testimony. All materia facts upon which the court relied to resolve the motion before 

it are properly supported by the rerrd. 

Finally, before the court was a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment by Plaintiffs, and a 

Motion for Summary Judgment bJ the Hills. Plaintiffs sought possession of the Main House 

2 



garage and its access on the basis th t, at a minimum, they had an irrevocable license should their 

advefse possession claim fail. The t ills' Motion for Summary Judgment sought to have . 

Plaintiffs' adverse possession and easement claims dismissed. · 

What the court found was thl t dismissal of the adverse possession and easement claims 

was not warranted. In fact, the couJ opined that Plaintiffs' adverse possession claim was 

compelling. Regarding the Motion ~or Partial Summary Judgment, the court found that Plaintiffs 

were entitled to immediate possessibn of and access to the garage by virtue of having at a 

minimum an irrevocable license, at t ost adverse possession. A motion for summary judgment 

by Plaintiffs on their adverse possession and easement claims was not then before the court. 

The Hills seek to stay enforl ment of the court's order granting possession of the Main 
I , . 

House garage to Plaintiffs because the Hills moved back to Connecticut and leased the Coach 

House. They left "a munber of theJ belongings" stored in the Main House garage. The tenants 

of the Coach House travelled to FlJida and left their car parked directly in front of the entrance 

to the Main House garage. The Hil s' claim that they cannot relinquish possession until the 

CO VID-19 travel restrictions are lii ed. 

It was not disclosed when tT Hills moved or why they left personal items in the Main 

House garage, or when the tenant left for Florida and why that individual left his/her car in front 

of the Main House garage entrancej but the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment has been 

before the court since March 1, 201r . It was fully briefed by May 24, 2019. This court ordered 

the Hills to relinquish possession o April 6, 2020. Whatever belongings the Hills chose to leave 

in the Main House garage can and hall be removed. So too can arrangements be made to move 

the tenant's car. 
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This court finds the Hills' M tion to Vacate meritless. Pending now before the court is 

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary JudJment on their adverse possession and easement claims. The 

Hills shall relinquish possession of tt e garage to Plaintiffs pending resolution of this matter, 

which the court believes will determr e under which claim the Plaintiffs are entitled to 

possession, not whether they are entitled to it. 

I ·11 · IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED AND ADJUDGED, that the Hi s' Motion to Vacate 

is OVERRULED. The Hills shall J linquish possession of the Main house garage and provide 

unobstructed ·access to it through the gate and driveway in the same manner as immediately prior 

to their possession, within ten (10) d ys of entry of this order. If the mailbox in any way 

obstructs use of the area previously sed by Tischbein and Rankin for additional parking, that too 

shall be moved. 

Done this~ day of _ ---1--1-¥--l.J.d..<'.l~-----------'' 2020. 

Distribution: · 
Original 
One Copy 
One Copy 
One Copy 
One Copy 

Kenton Circmt Clerk 
Hon. Kevin ~urphy 
Hon. Kent Se~fried 
Hon. Patrick f alsh 
Hon. Thoma A. Wietholter 
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY 

KENTON CIRCUIT COURT 

DIVISION I 

CASE NO. 18-CI-1603 

 

FILED ELECTRONICALLY 

 

MARC TISCHBEIN, et al.              PLAINTIFFS 

 

VS. 

 

SCOTT HILL, et al.           DEFENDANTS/THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS 

 

VS. 

 

DAVID A. KLINGSHIRN, et al.    THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANTS 

 

 

MOTION TO COMPEL 

 

 

 The Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, Scott and Lorrie Hill (the “Hills”), by and through 

counsel, respectfully submit the following Motion to Compel Plaintiff, Marc Tischbein 

(“Plaintiff”), to produce a complete and accurate set of text messages between him and Third-Party 

Defendant, David A. Klingshirn (“Klingshirn”).  A memorandum in support of this Motion and a 

proposed order are attached. 

NOTICE OF HEARING 

 Please take notice that the Hills’ Motion to Compel will be heard at 9:00 a.m. on Monday, 

March 2, 2020. 

CERTIFICATION OF COUNSEL 

 Pursuant to Local Rule 5, on November 14, 2019, after entering an appearance as counsel 

for the Hills, the undersigned asked Plaintiff’s counsel to produce text messages that were 

discussed in Klingshirn’s deposition testimony.  On November 21, 2019, Plaintiff’s counsel 

produced what they claimed were purportedly the text messages between Plaintiff and Klingshirn.  
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However, the text messages, as produced, appeared to be typed and did not have any date or time 

stamps, which made them largely unusable. 

 On November 25, 2019, the Hills’ counsel followed up with Plaintiff’s counsel regarding 

the text messages.  Specifically, the Hills raised their concerns about the format in which the texts 

were produced and how the text messages were gathered.  On December 10, 2019, Plaintiff’s 

counsel responded and asserted that the texts “were collected through a program that prints a 

straight-line copy of the texts.”   

 On December 13, 2019, the Hills’ counsel again followed up with Plaintiff’s counsel 

regarding the texts and asked which program was used to collect the texts.  On December 17, 2019, 

Plaintiff’s counsel stated that the texts came from an Apple phone and were printed from an Apple 

computer, which created the format of the texts and does not date the texts.   

On December 19, 2019, the Hills’ counsel asked Plaintiff’s counsel to provide screenshots 

of the text messages, since that is the most cost efficient and least burdensome manner to provide 

date stamped copies of the texts in a form that is usable.  The following day, on December 20, 

2019, Plaintiff’s counsel indicated that he was checking on dating the texts. 

After the holiday break and the Court mandated mediation, on January 21, 2020, the Hills’ 

counsel followed up with Plaintiff’s counsel regarding screenshots of the text messages.  Plaintiff’s 

counsel did not respond to that email.   

On February 12, 2020, the Hills’ counsel sent another follow up email to Plaintiff’s counsel 

regarding screenshots of the text messages.  The following day, on February 13, 2020, Plaintiff’s 

counsel left the Hills’ counsel a voicemail and stated that there had been a death in the family and 

asked if he could get back to us the following week.  The Hills’ counsel returned that voicemail 

the same day and informed Plaintiff’s counsel that the following week was fine and expressed 
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condolences. 

Plaintiff’s counsel failed to get back to the Hills’ counsel the following week.  As such, on 

February 24, 2020, the Hills’ counsel called Plaintiff’s counsel.  Plaintiff’s counsel indicated that 

he had screenshots of the text messages and that he was willing to agree to an extension of time 

given the discovery deadline set for March 2, 2020.  The following morning, the Hills’ counsel 

sent a follow up email informing Plaintiff’s counsel that the screenshots needed to be produced.   

Otherwise, the Hills would have to file a Motion to Compel to get the issue before the Court prior 

to the discovery cutoff since this was a Court imposed deadline that the Court already indicated 

would not be changed.   

Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff’s counsel produced copies of screenshots of the texts.  

However, that supplemental production raised more concerns.  Specifically, there were texts that 

were included in the screenshots that were not previously produced.  Additionally, there was no 

logical continuation of the conversation, which shows that texts are missing.  Furthermore, there 

were text messages that were included in the initial production that were not included in the 

screenshots.  Based on what has been provided, it is readily apparent that the Hills do not have a 

complete and accurate copy of the texts.   

Based on the screenshots, the Hills’ counsel sent a follow up email to Plaintiff’s counsel 

and raised the foregoing concerns.  The Hills’ counsel also asked for a complete and accurate 

production of screenshots of the texts.  While the Hills are hopeful that this matter can be resolved 

between the parties, the Hills are proceeding with a Motion to Compel so that their Motion can be   
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heard at the next motion hour before the discovery cutoff passes. 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 /s/ Kevin L. Murphy 

Kevin L. Murphy (KBA #50646) 

Steven A. Taylor (KBA #97090) 

MURPHY LANDEN JONES PLLC 

2400 Chamber Center Drive, Suite 200 

P.O. Box 17534 

Fort Mitchell, KY  41017-0534 

Telephone: (859) 578-3060 

Fax: (859) 578-3061 

KMurphy@MLJfirm.com 

STaylor@MLJfirm.com 

Counsel for Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, 

Scott and Lorrie Hill 
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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

 The Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, Scott and Lorrie Hill (the “Hills”), by and through 

counsel, respectfully submit the following Memorandum in Support of their Motion to Compel 

Plaintiff, Marc Tischbein (“Plaintiff”), to produce a complete and accurate set of screenshots of 

his text messages with Third-Party Defendant, David A. Klingshirn (“Klingshirn”).     

 The timeline surrounding the Hills’ requests for the text messages (and subsequent 

screenshots) is set out in detail above in the Certification of Counsel, and therefore will not be 

reiterated again here.  All the Hills want are a complete and accurate set of the text messages 

between Plaintiff and Klingshirn, with dates and time stamps.  Based on what has been produced, 

it is clear that a complete set of the text messages has not been produced.  There were some texts 

in the original production that were not included in the screenshots, and vice versa.  There are also 

texts that are clearly missing in the screenshots that were provided because there is no logical 

continuation of the conversation.   

 While the Hills are hopeful that this matter can be resolved between the parties, the Hills 

are filing this Motion in an abundance of caution due to the upcoming discovery cutoff that the 

Court previously indicated would not be changed.  To the extent this issue cannot be resolved by 

the parties prior to the motion hour on Monday, the Hills respectfully request that the Court order 

Plaintiff to provide complete and accurate screenshots of his text messages with Klingshirn. 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 /s/ Kevin L. Murphy 

Kevin L. Murphy (KBA #50646) 

Steven A. Taylor (KBA #97090) 

MURPHY LANDEN JONES PLLC 

2400 Chamber Center Drive, Suite 200 

P.O. Box 17534 

Fort Mitchell, KY  41017-0534 

Telephone: (859) 578-3060 
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Fax: (859) 578-3061 

KMurphy@MLJfirm.com 

STaylor@MLJfirm.com 

Counsel for Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs, 

Scott and Lorrie Hill 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing was served on the following 

via e-mail, this 26th day of February, 2020: 

Kent W. Seifried 

POSTON, SEIFRIED & SCHLOEMER 

2039 Dixie Highway 

Ft. Mitchell, KY 41011 

kent@pss-law.net 

Attorney for Plaintiffs, Marc Tischbein 

And Peggy Rankin 

 

Thomas A. Wietholter 

Wood & Lamping LLP 

600 Vine Street, Suite 2500 

Cincinnati, OH 45202 

tawietholter@woodlamping.com 

Attorney for Defendant, General 

Electric Credit Union 

 

Patrick J. Walsh 

319 York Street 

Newport, KY 41071 

patjwalsh55@gmail.com 

Attorney for Third-Party Defendants 

 

 

 

/s/ Kevin L. Murphy 

Kevin L. Murphy (KBA #50646) 
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY 

KENTON CIRCUIT COURT 

DIVISION I 

CASE NO. 18-CI-1603 

 

FILED ELECTRONICALLY 

 

MARC TISCHBEIN, et al.              PLAINTIFFS 

 

VS. 

 

SCOTT HILL, et al.           DEFENDANTS/THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS 

 

VS. 

 

DAVID A. KLINGSHIRN, et al.    THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANTS 

 

 

ORDER 

 

 

Currently pending before the Court is Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs’, Scott and Lorrie 

Hill (the “Hills”), Motion to Compel.  The Court having reviewed the Motion, and the Court being 

sufficiently advised, 

IT IS ORDERED that the Hills’ Motion is granted.  Plaintiff, Marc Tischbein, shall 

produce a complete and accurate set of screenshots of his text messages with Third-Party 

Defendant, David A. Klingshirn, within 10 days of the entry of this Order.   

SO ORDERED THIS _____ DAY OF MARCH, 2020. 

 

____________________________________ 

JUDGE KATHLEEN LAPE 

KENTON CIRCUIT COURT 
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The Circuit Clerk shall mail copies of this Order to the following: 

Kevin L. Murphy 

Steven A. Taylor 

Murphy Landen Jones PLLC 

2400 Chamber Center Drive, Suite 200 

Ft. Mitchell, KY 41017 

 

Kent W. Seifried 

POSTON, SEIFRIED & SCHLOEMER 

2039 Dixie Highway 

Ft. Mitchell, KY 41011 

 

Thomas A. Wietholter 

Wood & Lamping LLP 

600 Vine Street, Suite 2500 

Cincinnati, OH 45202 

 

Patrick J. Walsh 

319 York Street 

Newport, KY 41071 
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